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Welcome to AYA

"Your happiness, our business”

Welcome to the world of banking with AYA where our customers are

our only priority. We value all our customers and take pride in offering
fast and reliable banking.
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Our Mission

To be recognized as the leading bank in Myanmar through pursuit of excellence
and long-term sustainable growth for the bank and its stakeholders.
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Corporate Values

* We pursue our objectives with EXCELLENCE
* We progress as a TEAM
* We think and act in all HONESTY
* We maintain INTEGRITY at all times
» We CARE for our customers, our colleagues and the people we interact with
* We always act with SINCERITY
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Corporate goals 33 32005: @'ﬁo$ eals

1. For Customers (0) od§onqPzaoR0d
To achieve high level of customer satisfaction by: 20:9qP:3:003000 GyjsdaMaeqP: GSCeoas sacden -
a.providing honest, efficient and courteous () §e00ns60001 3qpdzq g0 oopdjoged
service 6o 0§ty gpeusgdl
b.offering a full range of products and services () PENGE5E00d0056a0E0g5Ps $E0§
c.providing easy accessibility in terms of reach ‘39006%]’33 @@émoeogeﬁ“
and delivery channels (0) ooBeliopfogadiqpisé obeeondqqpion
d.employing technology as the enabler for all oqoSoqedlgdlgdst $pBa0bqpelsE sacguSonap
customer service endeavors q§90q$n
(20) 9PEI08§6800EE0:6o00 MAPA3E:n369058505:
2. For the Community ogy)qu@égg%@m&‘j(\a(ﬁ(yagoq$“

To be a good corporate citizen and build long term
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3. For Staff 6qgP50p5058E[G[G: 6 C:8:e0meondedegEgfeogsi
To ensure a highly competent and dedicated work- ©) C\PE)GGSO%SO(‘YSQP:SQUO)OS
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4. For Shareholders Bo3eqeqaqed sacgssaqpdaaq)t: [god8eom Bodbamicondon
To build sustained shareholder value through rapid oooS@e:m chm:o?e‘ﬁeoq&u
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0320005600058 5000098 E[Ge 008005 8d6qEn 30000
GENOOqS

sustainable and active engagement with the
community we serves

force by implementing transparent policies, and
fostering staff well-being and goodwill.

growth international standards of governance, risk and

compliance.

Brand Promise - Your Trusted Partner

Your Trusted Partner is a declaration to our customers that:

“AYA Bank (Ayeyarwady Bank) is the bank of choice for anyone who is looking for fast, reliable, honest banking
relationships at a reasonable cost. AYA Bank offers the full range of retail and commercial banking products and
services and is in tune with domestic customs and international standards in its governance and operations. For
your long-term banking needs, AYA Bank is your trusted partner in Myanmar.”
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PROFILE

License:

Central Bank of Myanmar —Ma Ba Pa/ P-223 (7) 2010.
AYA Bank (Ayeyarwady Bank) received a new
banking license from the Central Bank of Myanmar
on 2nd July 2010 to operate as an investment and
development  banking business and commenced
operations on 11 August 2010 with the opening of the
branch at the Nay Pyi Taw Registered Office. The
founder and main shareholder of AYA Bank is U Zaw
Zaw, a well-respected entrepreneur, business leader
and philanthropist of Myanmar with diversified business
interests in agriculture, construction, manufacturing and
hospitality.

AYA Bank has always strived to achieve
international standards in its banking operations and
it is constantly improving its corporate governance, risk
management and compliance measures by adopting
global best practices. The bank has engaged experts
and consultants with broad industrial and international
experience, and continues to invest significantly in its
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employees, systems and technology in order to build
a solid foundation to grow the business. It believes the
efforts will ensure sustainable long-term growth and
improve the returns of the stakeholders and the lives of
the people of Myanmar.

AYA Bank is the second largest private bank with
nationwide presence providing a full suite of corporate,
retail and commercial banking products and solutions
for both local and international customers, through the
extensive branch network present in every state and
division of the country. Leveraging on technology and
differentiated customer service has been key to rapidly
growing the customer base. In less than 8 years,
AYA Bank has opened 242 branches and 676 ATMs
countrywide as of September 2018.

AYA Bank is the first bank in Myanmar to implement
Centralized Core Banking System, and continuously
strives to offer the best financial services and products
in the market. Extending beyond the domestic banking
services, AYA Bank is providing International Banking



Services
to support
Clients to
implement their
projects and plans.
For the immediate
future, the Bank will
continue to extend its reach
throughout Myanmar, establish
relationships with new customers
and foreign partners, and strengthen
the Bank’s capital and risk management
controls. The Bank will also emphasize
on improving our human capital, and foster
a corporate culture of innovation through
technology so as to provide new products and
services for our customers. As the process of banking
sector reform deepens in the banking industry, the Bank
will be well placed to become the best bank in Myanmar.
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MILESTONES ano

2010

2-Jul

Obtained Banking
License from

Central Bank of Myanmar

7-Jul
Commenced operations with 10
billion kyats in paid up capital.

11-Aug
Inception of Bank with
Naypyitaw HO Opening
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ACHIEVEMENTS

2012

2-Feb
Launched Maybank Money
Express service

9-Jul

Obtained approval from Central
Bank of Myanmar and
commenced offering Foreign
Currency Account, SWIFT
Telegraphic Transfer & Letter of
Credits

17-Aug
Became a participant of the

United Nations Global Compact

14-Sept
Commenced Myanmar
Payment Union (MPU)

2013

22-Feb

Received General License 19
from the US Department of
Treasury

23-Feb
Launched AYA-Q Remit Money
Transfer Service

4-Jun

Signed Money Transfer
Service with Western Union
Financial Services Inc.

11-Jun
Obtained Principal License

from VISA Payment
Network

1-Jul

Obtained Principal License from
MasterCard Payment Network
Sept

Received World Finance
Awards for Best Private Bank,
Myanmar

2014

31-Mar
AYA World Travel Card (Prepaid
Card) Launching

20-May
AYA Total Deposits One Trillion

17-Jun

Obtained approval from Central
Bank of Myanmar to conduct
AYA iBanking Service

27-Jun

AYA iBanking Service

Launching

Jul

* Obtained "Banker of the Year 2014"
by the Myanmar Times.

+ Global Banking & Finance Review
Awards 2014 - Fastest
Growing Retail Bank Myanmar
2014

+ Global Banking & Finance
Review Awards 2014 - Most
Innovative Banking Services
(AYA iBanking) Myanmar 2014

Sept

Obtained "Best Private Bank
Myanmar" 2014 by World
Finance Obtained "Best Retail
Bank Myanmar" 2014 by World
Finance

31-Dec
Opened AYA 100th Branch,
Yangon Division.



2016

AYA Bank is the first local
institution in Myanmar to
adopt full compliance with
International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS)

28-Jul
Launched MPU-UPI
co-brand card

16-Aug

Officially Launch of The First
AYA-JCB-MPU

Co-Brand Card in Myanmar

17-Sept
SME 2 Steps Loan with JICA

8-Oct
Sanction lifted

Oct
« "Obtained""Best Private Bank,

Myanmar"
" 2016 by World Finance"
« Obtained "Best Banking Group,
Myanmar" 2016 by World Finance
« Obtained "Most Sustainable Bank,
Myanmar" 2016 by World Finance

Nov

Launched Education Loan
Collaboration with private
institution

\YA 200th Branch

2017

2-Jun

AYA Bank partners with Misys in
its next bank

transformation program to
improve access to secure,
reliable financial services for
Myanmar’s under-banked

19-Jun

As “Open Eye Project’,
Management Members with
International Standards and
Standing SOPs

22-Aug

AYA Bank Accelerates Its
Financial Inclusion and Digital
Transformation Efforts With
mFino

14-Nov

First Corporate Credit Card in
Myanmar Introduced by AYA
Bank as AYA Univesal
Corporate MPU-JCB
Co-Branded Card

25-Nov

AYA Bank’s Automobile Hire -
Purchase Loan Enables
Customers to Buy Their Dream
Cars with the Easiest and
Convenient Financial plan

Nov - Dec

Special Trainings of Product
Knowledge Sharing Sessions
were conducted as Zone
Development and Buddha
Gaya Pilgrimage was organised
for 95 employees from all over
the country via lucky draw
program.

2018

Home Loan

CBM Net (CCT)

Agriculture Loan

MFI Lending

Obtained "Best Bank" by Asia

Money
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BANK OVERVIEW

Awards

1. Best Private Bank Myanmar 2013 By World Finance
2. Best Private Bank Myanmar 2014 By World Finance
3. Best Retail Bank Myanmar 2014 By World Finance
4. Banker of the Year 2014 By Myanmar Times

5. Fastest Growing Retail Bank Myanmar 2014, By

Global Banking & Finance Review Awards

2014.

6. Most Innovative Banking Services (AYA iBanking)
Myanmar 2014, By Global Banking & Finance

Review Award 2014

7. Best Private Bank, Myanmar, 2015 By World Finance

8. Best Banking Group, Myanmar, 2015 By World

Finance

9. Most Sustainable Bank, Myanmar, 2015 By World

Total Deposits
Trillions MMK

MAR-12 MAR-13 MAR-14 MAR-15 MAR-16 MAR-17 MAR-18  SEP-18

Numbers of Employees
® Male @ Female

MAR-12  MAR-13 MAR-14 MAR-15 MAR-16 MAR-17 MAR-18  SEP-18

Finance

10. Best Private Bank, Myanmar, 2016 By World

Finance

11. Best Banking Group, Myanmar, 2016 By World
Finance

12. Most Sustainable Bank, Myanmar, 2016 By World
Finance

13. Best commercial Bank, Myanmar, 2017 by World
Finance

14. Best retail Bank, Myanmar, 2017 by World Finance

15. Best CSR, Myanmar 2017 by Asiamoney

16. Best Regional Partner in Southeast Asia, 2017 By
Capital Finance International (CFI)

Numbers of Branches

MAR-12  MAR-13 MAR-14 MAR-15 MAR-16 MAR-17 MAR-18  SEP-18

ATM

April 2012 To March 2013 36
April 2013 To March 2014 46
April 2014 To March 2015 82
April 2015 To March 2016 110
April 2016 To March 2017 193
April 2017 To September 2018 209
Total 676
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MESSAGE FROM
THE CHAIRMAN



Mingalarbar and warm greetings from your trusted
partner, AYA Bank. AYA Bank has continued to move
forward with perseverance during the period of 2017-
2018. In this ever-developing world, our AYA Bank is
marching with both velocity and might. Using the first
Centralized Core Banking in Myanmar since 2013, we
have connected all our rapidly expanding branches to
serve our loyal customers in a real time situation. Our
Bank has started Myanmar’s first AYA i-Banking Service
and introduced you, our distinguished customers, to
World Travel VISA card and most recently AYA Visa
Credit Cards aiming for financial inclusion, in cooperation
with VISA International. As

the capital market is being “
developed in the country, AYA
Bank is aiming to register
as a public company with a
view to eventually list on the
Myanmar Stock Exchange.
Thus, all Myanmar citizens
will have the opportunity
to become shareholders
in our bank. At the end of
September 30th 2018, AYA Bank has 242 branches and
a total deposit of 5.3 Trillion MMK. We commit ourselves
to providing the best of security and the highest quality
of service in line with our motto “Trusted Partner” to our
customers who have been consistently working with us
all the time. We believe that our Bank’s success and that
of our customers are intertwined, therefore; our banking
operation prioritizes, first and foremost, the benefit of
our valued customers. We understand the importance
of integrity and transparency for the success of all our
partners. Therefore, we would like to inform you that,
despite our Bank’s rapid rate of development, at the time
of making decisions, we will do so with great care and
discipline.

Accordingly, we have achieved the unique milestone of
becoming the first local entity in Myanmar to become
fully compliant with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). Once again this is a voluntary step

MESSAGE FROM
THE CHAIRMAN

which will, we believe, show the way for the rest of the
industry. IFRS adoption is no easy undertaking, but it
is essential in integrating with the regional and internal
financial markets. The standards of transparency,
disclosure, and representations in these 2017-2018
Financial Statements adhere to the same standards
as any international financial institutions. We hope that
IFRS adoption will soon become the industry standard
rather than the exception today, and, that continuous
efforts to exceed the expectations will help build long-
lasting trust and relationship with our partners and
customers. Continuous trainings are being provided
to the staff in AYA Bank to
build their capacity and to
upgrade their skills. The new
recruits are given theoretical
and practical exercise on
banking knowledge and
operations by experienced
industry experts invited to
,,our Bank’s training centers
before they practically begin
their work. For the future,
AYA Bank plans to establish a socio-economic program
to develop a Banking and Finance Institute as a center
of excellence in Myanmar. AYA Bank is focused on the
development of human resources by providing training
and job opportunities to the youth in the country and
8098 staffs are employed at AYA Bank as at September
30th 2018.
In conclusion, | would like to express my gratitude and
appreciation to the Board of Directors, Employees,
advisors, partners and last but not least, our true
benefactors: Our Customers. Without their help,
contributions, and loyal belief in us, we would never
have achieved our expectations for AYA Bank to become
a leading service-provider in Myanmar. | am sure that
consistent combination of all our efforts; we will surely
soar to our true potentials. Wishing you the best of
everything the world can offer.
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U Zaw Zaw

Chairman & Founder

U Zaw Zaw is the Chairman & Founder of AYA
Bank, a role that he had held since the inception of
the Bank in 2010. He is an established and well-
connected entrepreneur, and business leader
and Philanthropis in Myanmar, with 20 years of
management experience. U Zaw Zaw graduated
from the University of Yangon in 1988 with a major in
Mathematics and worked in Japan for several years.
He returned to Myanmar in 1995 and managed Max
Myanmar Company, which is now known as Max
Myanmar Group of Companies, a major conglomerate. U
Zaw Zaw is also the Chairman of the Myanmar Football
Federation (MFF) since 2005 and is a firm believer
of contributing to the society and helping the needy.
Through the Ayeyarwady Foundation, he has supported
various philanthropic causes including the Yankin
Children’s Hospital, and numerous corporate social
responsibility activities. He has also donated generously
for the development of Football in Myanmar.
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Daw Htay Htay Khaing

Vice-Chairman and Co-Founder

Daw Htay Htay Khaing has been the Vice-Chairman
of the Board of Directors since the Bank’s inception in
2010. Daw Htay Htay Khaing, who holds a Bachelor of
Science in Mathematics awarded by the University of
Yangon, also plays an active role as a Vice-Chairperson
with the Myanmar Women Football Association and as a
Trustee with the Myanmar Women Sports Association.
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U Khin Maung
Vice-Chairman

U Khin Maung started out as the Managing Director of
AYA Bank since its inception in July 2010 and handed
over his duties to U Than Zaw in May 2011. He has since
served as a Senior Consultant to the Bank. In July 2013,
he was appointed as a Director and Vice-Chairman to
the Board.U Khin Maung’s wealth of banking experience
spans over 51 years. He had held various key positions
in the State Commercial Bank and Myanmar Economic
Bank before moving on to Myanmar Investment and
Commercial Bank(MICB) . U Khin Maung worked in MICB
for eight years and last held the position of Managing
Director , before moving on to Myanmar Mayflower Bank
in the same role . U Khin Maung’s illustrious resume
also included acting at the Chairman for the Board of
Management and the Credit Committee in MICB and as
a Board Member for the Foreign Exchange Management
Board and the Coordination Committee in the Central
Bank of Myanmar. He is also a Board Member for the
Loan Committee in the Ministry of Finance and Revenue.
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U Than Zaw

Executive Director

U Than Zaw served as the Managing Director to
Ayeyarwady Bank from 2011 to 2013 and during his
tenure, he has led the fledging Bank to grow its brand
and network in Myanmar. He now heads AYA Myanmar
Insurance Company as a Vice Chairman and remains as
an Executive Director of the Board at the Bank. U Than
Zaw’s past experience includes eight-years tenure with
the Olympics Committee as a Treasurer and another
two years as the Chief Executive Officer of the Myanmar
Football Federation.
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Daw Khin Ma Ma

Executive Director

Daw Khin Ma Ma was appointed as the Executive Director
of Ayeyarwady Bank in 2012. Daw Khin Ma Ma brings
along with her a wealth of experience gained through
her 17 years in the service industry. With her passion
for delivering quality service, she has brought the quality
of service offered in all the Bank’s branches to a higher
level. She also oversees human resources matters and
provides guidance for capacity building and also serves
as a member of the board of Directors of the Bank.

cal oo
29ea0Cafodom

esloCooo0pd joo 956038 eepocdonaiiel
3309063050240 020$0rF[Beesn0d joop 9560
0onle)] sepocBonaonodeagd el 38 0Calfo50m0063:
[gdooScodieannagmd§oloodi egloCowapd
(0qQ) $8op YOeemEIeom  086eoNCGEROCS:
magpsel 3603 2P oade [eodonndegs
20905 6800Egrd0q05§ClaopSi ape0pdonaiel Bsgiee
8adeodgpiogod  Saqpdm0eag§eomn  08680aCaqp:
c0q$300[030s oG ooHFpaaindionl IS
32603]{gCwni600m 08ee0nCaqpieustaen:st ofesonly
OS0sSqp:  [goddeooqnd  sn[gBionicuzopgboopdi
AB[g€opec0nd  cnobiimaCiaagdstadloom  olg
320q03:  8Ge§360ie500000[gE  oDH0S0d:gPzel
2epdmqC: § [GrodsonodeqEmacged  p&logpeuesan
006Bs0005: B&Slo:)éu

U Min Sein

Independent Non-Executive Director

U Min Sein was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of AYA Bank in 2013. He is
an accomplished lawyer who is an Advocate of the
Supreme Court, a Certified Public Accountant and has
been practicing law since 1972. He is the Managing
Partner of U Min Sein Law Firm (Yangon), a member
of Asia Law Alliance, in association with Christopher
Bridges (Singapore). Within his illustrious Curriculum
Vitae, he has served as legal advisor to the ltalian
Thai Public Company, the Embassy of the Republic
of France, World Vision, Myanmar Brewery Company
Limited, Toyota Tsusho Company Limited, Myanmar Tan
Chong Company Limited .U Min Sein is also currently a
Director of The Myanmar Consolidated Media Company
Limited (The Myanmar Times). He is also a member
of the Australia-Myanmar Chamber of Commerce, a
member of West Indochina Consultants, As part of
his contribution to the society, U Min Sein served as
a lecturer in Commercial Law at the Auditor General’s
Office for twenty years. He is a Founding Member and
Management Committee Member of U Hla Tun Hospice,
a charitable organization in Yangon.
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Dr. Aung Tun Thet

Independent Non-Executive Director

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director with AYA Bank in
2013, offering advice in areas of Management, Human
Resources andthe Bank’s Corporate Social Responsibility
activities. Professor Dr.Aung Tun Thet is a distinguished
International and Public Servant who has served in the
United Nations as well as in the Myanmar Civil service.
He is currently a visiting Professor at the Yangon
Institute of Economics and Yangon University He acts
as a management consultant in areas of Management,
Leadership, Human Resources, and Organizational
Development and Corporate Governance for various
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companies. He is also an advisor for the Government
sector, for the business community and the civil society.
Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet is a leading advocate of
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) in Myanmar.
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Dr. Tin Latt

Independent Non-Executive Director
Dr. Tin Latt was appointed as an Independent Non-



Executive Director of AYA Bank in 2013. He is a FCCA,
FCMA, CGMA, CIA, ISCA, and CPA qualified professional
with more than 20 years of experience. He is the Founder
and Managing Director of Management and Accountancy
Training Ltd and Managing Partner of MAT Audit and
Professional Services which is a provisional member
of RSM International Network providing Governance,
Risk and Business Advisory, and Auditing services.Dr
Tin Latt is working as a visiting lecturer for CPA classes
organized by Myanmar Accountancy Council and has
taken roles as Vice Chairman of Myanmar Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), Executive
Council Member of Union of Myanmar Federation of
Chambers of Commerce and Industry (UMFCCI) and
Executive Council Member of Myanmar Accountancy
Council (MAC)

c3l050000E005
3266a00C000d6a00 o3 CAlavlelen
: % 1950 @cfg ffgpcg e
eglodomonCooodaopd  joop 95803E eepPood
O AN Al pleslcionaliifeate b HTotablc dlople va)
g0 000E08320[g8: $3 qoopdi 29o0pd FCCAI FCMA
CGMAI CIAI ISCA $& CPA 300§00pd onoamneep ©6Cs
optsG  BigroqRqpio  qfiEaitooniaglgboonh
e ogteatislocdonadongd  s0Suudgpiogt
:250(J0) eod 3603, 32[03fopordic0pd:  [gdaodi
ad33[g€opaopd Managementand Accountancy Training Ltd
g€  oopdeantanst  2p0gdedldodomesgbeadd
copdieomnt  3p0q00ad8epypa 90:4:506508Ea[ge3E
paps BsgmieepsCooda005a00d F[pIeutagps 0qC:
00[gC:300§0000  0§ee00Cagpind  OB:eugd§eom
§EE0nom5E§ 0500050020009 323 320p5:0009[gd
2000 RSM &l anodeagollgbeoon MAT Audit and
Professional  Services ©0qE:a3¢  enqliodoseaoniy
opgopt 869§5000066000533[gdop5e0mEs
00§076800EGORMO§0pdI  eslodomonaoodaopd
[45088¢ oqEieomEBmng o ¢& cpdoolopeuiagod
§oopd Leodq [gpSon,0qC:RE(CPA) coCon&igps
REcopd:  6pdmaBmn  codeLMedesgE  cofonss
3qleuinqod§oopdmalge  cvodeade [gobagengiadEyp:
3008098 30300pge F[gdcopdieomn [godeconte
20go[g$e8EE mME0dePisC 0SS edCSgE
qpeep0ols (UMFCCI) $€ [g8§enEeongtieomEd (MAC)
0350005: 3ageenéerepdearéé-22d.08200§000d 3
08:00gP:30000: 020080 GaoEgadagHHG RS

U Myint Zaw

Managing Director

U Myint Zaw was appointed as the Managing Director
of AYA Bank on 2nd May 2017. He graduated with a
B.Econ (Economics) and Master of Public Administration
(MPA) in 2008. He has held various senior positions

in Advertising, Marketing (SAIL-McCann Erickson),
Celter Zecon Co., Ltd, Myanmar Brewery, Asia Pacific
Breweries (Singapore), FNN Soft drink and Ooredoo
Myanmar Telecom operator. He has a total of 23 years
of working experiences in Agriculture, Advertising, Future
Commodity Market, Beverage and Soft Drink Industries,
Telecommunications and Education. In 2011, He founded
the Professional Marketers Association (PMA). In 2014
he started Ground Solution Company and offers his
services as an advisor, a consultant to other companies
and in Project Planning and management trainings. He
is also a lecturer at private colleges and universities
for Economic, Marketing, Sales, Distribution, and
Management & Leadership classes.
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Mr. Azeem Azimuddin

Chief Financial Officer and Advisor to the Chairman

Mr. Azimuddin was appointed as CFO and Advisor to the
Chairman of Ayeyarwady Bank in 2014. He is a senior
international banker, private equity principal investor
and operating partner with 30+ years of diversified
international experience mostly with Citigroup, HSBC,
Societe. General, 20+ years at the Board /CEO/MD/CFO
level. Successful track record of starting, restructuring
and turning around financial services as well as
manufacturing business, and of taking them through
Rating and Capital Market Issuance processes. He took
lleadership role on multiple bank transformation, systems
architecture and implementation projects. Since 2002,
he led major due diligences including 6 investments, 6
business transformation & restructuring and 4 successful
exits across the Financial Services, diversified
Manufacturing and IT industries in North America, Africa
and Asia. Developed Multicultural, multidisciplinary
operating teams in the Middle East, North Africa, and
South and South East Asia. Approved by the Toronto
Stock Exchange for Directorship of listed companies;
and, a Member Singapore Institute of Directors.
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Mr. MooSun

Chief Operating Office

Mr. Moo Sun was appointed as the Chief Operation
Officer of AYA Bank in December 2010. Having 30
years of service in the banking industry, Mr. Moo Sun
is an experienced banker with considerable exposure
in various facets of retail and commercial banking.
He began his career in Malaysia and has also worked
Vietham and Cambodia.Mr. Moo Sun currently guides
AYA Bank’s operations and spearheads the international
banking business unit of the Bank.

Mr. MooSun
CpOChi00pd00dq3E:REapadeGIo

Jooo 9sd1 8alommcoo€ MrMoo Sun 20b
8EPOOdNMY  0OCEH:00005¢3E:BEp 3P0
[0 0§325[gC:5q0001900PECS:03E 5663 (p0) VO
200560 Mr. Moo Sun 20p5 ooahapdess oocpse
§e§ilg®20d  cvodScBonahpdesisE  Bsgrieepadlep
DAOROCie0R 3[0Yqoy0d0d  deonadapdes:
ogésoqCon  00d8egdaopdbi  apeionabpdesiacop,
DloJqpod  eecogpEeafoonG:  3aE3§|Cig0s
632020035 80Hs85E mgedSuioeom §EEa30RE
c0pd: DAHROCEgPE 03 AWOE80EFPO: [§EOlaodi
Mr. Moo Sunaopd w9328l eepoodanadeicpdesgp:a?
Biee00CcubspSeuiesBronaiel  33gpSgpbadEepona®
c05e&:50503 38m(03{0360350303105§Aloodi

U Ko Ko Oo

Deputy Managing Director

U Ko Ko Oo was appointed as the Deputy Managing Di-
rector of AYA Bank in 2014. He has extensive working ex-
perience of strategic studies and International Relations.
He has been working in General Management for over
15 years in various capacities and is currently leading
the aggressive Branch Expansion Program of the Bank.
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U Minn Wint Oo

Deputy Managing Director

U Minn Wint Oo is the Deputy Managing Director
and Chief Technology Officer at AYA Bank. He is a
tech-savvy person who is always up-to-date with the
trending technology. He is a strategic planner and the
main driving force for the bank’s whole IT system and
infrastructure, including, but not limited to, Data Centers,
Network Architecture, Software Development and
Information Security. He aligns business goals with IT
goals and ensures effective oversight and governance of
technology. He has been exposed to the full range of IT
projects and functions within Myanmar Banking Industry.
For over 20 years, he has continuously contributed to
enable Myanmar to make transformational changes. He
also works as the vice-chairman of Myanmar Payment
Union which is the only national payment switch in
Myanmar. He also consults Yangon Payment Services to
implement the certificate authority for the public transport
payment system.
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Daw May Myat Thu

Deputy Managing Director

Daw May Myat Thu is a Deputy Managing Director of AYA
Bank, overseeing the Human Resources Department of
the Bank. She has been with the Bank since May 2012
after she returned from Singapore. Daw May Myat Thu
hold a Bachelor of Science (Honors) degree in Economics
and Management, awarded by the London School of
Economics and Political Science. During her tenure with
the Bank, she was also assigned to temporarily head
the insurance arm of the Financial Group, AYA Myanmar
Insurance as an Managing Director for (6) months. She
initiated the Bank’s membership to United Nations Global
Compact and has been an active steering person for AYA
Financial Group’s CSR activities
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Overall Organization Chart

Management Committees Board Committees
« Human Resource Committee - Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

: Purchasing C.ommittee - Remuneration & Nomination Committee
+ Credit Committee

- Assets & Liabilities Management Committee

« IT & Digitalization Steering Committee
* Business Development Committee
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Field Structure
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Corporate Governance

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
OUR BOARD

U Zaw Zaw, Chairman of the Board

Daw Htay Htay Khine, Vice Chairman

U Khin Maung, Vice Chairman

U Myint Zaw, Managing Director

U Than Zaw, Executive Director

Daw Khin Ma Ma, Executive Director

U Min Sein, Independent Non-Executive Director

Dr. Aung Tun Thet, Independent Non-Executive Director
Dr. Tin Latt, Independent Non-Executive Director
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BOARD COMPOSITION

We have nine Board members with a broad range of
experience and deep industry expertise, of which two
are female directors and three are Independent Non-
Executive Directors (INED). AYA Bank adopts a diversity
policy which requires female representation on our
Board.

Independent directors are key to good corporate
governance and bring balance to the Board. The
presence of an independent Board members adds
corporate credibility to the Bank. Having independent
directors, they provide impartial judgment, objective
assessment, and critical risk management functions on
the most beneficial path.

Our Independent Non-Executive Directors come from
different backgrounds and bring various professional
expertise. Such diversity both enhances information
resources and broadens the cognitive and behavioral

range of the board. Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet brings his
strategic expertness in human resources management,
Dr. Tin Latt brings the strong knowledge of financial
management and U Minn Sein brings legal professions.
Their vast experience and diverse expertise help to
enrich the knowledge of the Board.
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN OF THE
BOARD

Chairman of the Board plays a key role in keeping the
Board effective, and the Bank on track towards success.
Chairman provides guidance on the strategic action
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plans for business development and sustainability while
ensuring adequate and effective risk management
controls are in place. Chairman takes a leadership
to ensure implementation of corporate governance,
transparency, and proper delegation of responsibilities.
He sets a good example to demonstrate the Bank’s
corporate values.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

Board is decision-making body for matters which may
significantly impact to AYA. Board is responsible to
ensure that appropriate controls and decision-making
are consistently applied in the entire Bank. Board
responsibilities are well-defined in Board charter.

The Board of Directors meets at least 6 times a year,
and at any meeting, at least 6 out of 9 Directors must
be present for the quorum to be fulfilled. All the Board
members’ attendance are kept recorded at all Board
meetings.
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BOARD S KEY AREA OF FOCUS

Setting the strategic direction and strategic aims and
ensures that adequate financial and human resources
are in place for the Bank to meet its objectives.
Monitors the responsibilities delegated to the Board
committees to ensure effective oversight and control
of activities.

Establishing a framework of prudent and effective
controls which enables risk to be assessed and
managed; and balancing the interests of its diverse
stakeholders, customers, shareholders, employees,
and communities.
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BOARD MEETINS AND ACTIVITIES

Board meetings are held at least six time in a fiscal year
and the interval between two meetings shall not exceed
two months. The Chairman oversees the setting of the
agenda of Board meetings, in consultation with Managing
Director to have sufficient time to address the issues in
an important area. All materials for Board and Board
committee meetings are provided advance in adequate
time to accomplish meetings in productive manner.
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Board Committee
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NOMINATING COMMITTEE

The Independent Director, Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet
chairs the Nomination Committee, which is composed of
three Directors. He actively provides honest feedback on
issues such as Board composition, succession planning
and the quality of information provided to the Board.
The Nomination Committee uses various criteria, such
as a director’s attendance record, relevance of skills
and experience, candor and clarity in communication,
strategic insight, and business judgment, to assess the
performance of each Director and her/ his contribution
to the Board’'s effectiveness. Nomination Committee
members excuses themselves from the evaluation on
her/his performance.

The Nomination Committee’s evaluation of the
Board Committees takes into account whether the
Board Committees have discharged their duties and
satisfactorily performed the tasks delegated by the
Board. In assessing the effectiveness of the Board as
a whole, the Nomination Committee uses qualitative
and quantitative criteria including the strategic directions
given, quality of oversight of risk management processes
and internal controls, and the Bank’s overall performance,
among others.

6g:q[ud9§32066EE000d
egegSonglgeradeseandeddnd  edlodom
eanagSion0dm Bieaonlq) dfodom 3308 o Bl
§oopdi 990533 61 §.000:01 eponzerddepd 228320D
$C 090520823 0oC[goopd 2000E:390d200500R)
e[opCiqiepypin?d 03053583 ofgtiegs ooglgaodi
egeqloSe&ea0eqEerdeod20pd dndomyp:3sopdisacos
CaleplelNeloTHEN SloatibTgRtelet HopliloalIN et sletente =l a1
:qCiqit:s 9005030568008g0dRE  qEicusgr oB:ogt:s
a3[gase  vOckimad  Bqfeddqodgooopd  dgs:
2§p§jr0d 32904y o500 BN goiee0Capds
GCe10n05330pE  BeepodgndloCead  o3[godeny
§oopdn  a3epapé  condecdmgol  sagCigiCizacdl
:3905@05@&0%} El(\?f)ﬁ@qé]u
egeqdesaa0eqEe0beddel 303(g0d9q0pd r0dmg
eodeodgpion g&odel omoSgpiod coqsBs 005

03,0 (R320000:6000 00054P0D GRS 006:6800E
[96:  §rofso:  3003[god0pdn  opodeag oodondsel

ABeepPodgod  303[godepopt  egegde§zadeendecd
200 6032000016000 LUMNYUICOEERSYEdGP: 334
3208 2qpdm:06oxsl 3063030508 ep  dgSigpiod
2004|001 Gonsaagepudadtep 8dos3ecnieodypist
P303E:0B5:qi0qqpiail [3o3003003g saapdescogist
DN 3200:098:6800E8EG030loE A0S

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES OF
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Review regularly the composition of the Board and
Board committees.

Review and recommend to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment of any Non-Executive
Directors with regards to their skillsets, performance,
commitment, and ability to contribute to the Board
Review the size and composition of the Board and
Board Committees.

Assess the performance of the Board and Board
committees.

Conduct the assessment of performance of each
Director in discharging his or her responsibilities, and
other principal commitments.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet leads the Remuneration
Committee, which consists of 3 Directors. The
Remuneration Committee is responsible to ensure that
the Banks’ remuneration framework is aligned with the
market, and according to the overall performance of the
Bank.
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KEY RESPONSIBILITIES OF

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Determining remuneration in line with the strategic
objectives of the Bank and appropriate to attract,
retain and motivate directors and senior executives.
Recommending fees for Directors and reviewing the
remuneration of senior executives; and,
Administering employee incentive programs that
encourage long-term employee commitment and
organizational performance.
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AUDIT RISK AND COMPLIANCE

COMMITTEE

Dr. Tin Latt, the Independent Non-Executive Director

leads the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC),

which consists of 3 Directors. The Committee members
meets quarterly.

The ARCC :

* Monitor financial reporting process, internal and
external audits plan, audit reports and provide
guidance on the management letter points raised by
auditors.

Ensure that financial statements are prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).

Inspects the adequacy and effectiveness of internal
accounting, risk management and compliance
controls to mitigate risks.

Ensure that Bank is adherence to applicable laws
and regulations.

Monitor if any significant changes in respective
regulations, policies, or practices.

Oversees the effectiveness and quality of the
performance of Internal Audit Department.

Monitors the sufficiency of risk management
framework.

Manage resources, review the cost-effectiveness,
and approve the engagement of external auditors.
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ROLE OF MANAGING DIRECTOR

Managing Director is responsible for implementing and
monitoring the Bank’s strategic action plans laid down
by the Board, in a cost-effective and efficient manner.
He oversees day-to-day operations and is directly
responsible for raising the profitability and image of the
Bank and ensuring that effective risk management and
operational controls are implemented at the ground level.
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ACCESS TO INFORMATION

All Directors have unfettered access to corporate
information. They are provided in a timely manner with
appropriate information in the form and quality to enable
them to make informed decisions and perform their
duties and responsibilities. All Directors have access to
Board and Committees resolutions through an electronic
means which ensures timely and secure delivery of

information to Directors.

Directors also have direct access to the Corporate
Affairs Department whose major responsibilities include
establishing an effective working relationship with the
Chairman and the Executives, ensuring the smooth
running of the activities of the Board and its committees
by providing guidance in Board procedures, regulatory
changes and best practices in corporate governance
and ensures that board procedures and applicable
regulations are complied with. The Corporate Affairs
Department also facilitates communications between the
Board and Management and organizes the induction of
new directors.
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Internal Audit Department

The Internal Audit Department function is to provide
independent assurance to the Management and
stakeholder with regards to the Bank’s internal control,
risk management and governance. The Internal Audit
Department reports to the Audit Committee which is
headed by an Independent Non-Executive Director. The
Internal Audit Department consists of over 50 staffs and
perform audit in accordance to the international auditing
standards and guidelines. A risk assessment exercise is
carried out every year to identify key risks areas of the
bank and an audit plan is developed in accordance to
the risk area identified. As part of the internal control
framework, branches which are operational for at least
3 months are audited to ensure they are in line with the
banking operations processes and internal controls are
in place.
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External Auditor

The external auditors are responsible for providing
their opinion to the Central Bank of Myanmar and the
Board of Directors as to whether the Bank’s financial
statements adequately reflect the financial position of the
Bank and its solvency. The external auditors to inform
the Board Directors of any irregularities and deficiencies
observed in the operations and accounts, which could
result in material losses for the Bank. The Audit Risk
and Compliance Committee meet the external auditors
independent of the internal auditors and Management.
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Best Commercial Bank 2017 Myanmar by World Finance

s | Best Retail Bank 2017 - Myanmar by World Finance
COUNTRY 3
A AZWIi\RIDTS — Best CSR by Asiamoney

ASIAMONEY

Best Regional Partner in Southeast Asia By CFI

Best Banking Group 2016 by World Finance
Most Sustainable Bank 2016 by World Finance

Best Private Bank 2016 by World Finance
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L Most Sustainable Bank 2015 by World Finance
Best Private Bank 2015 by World Finance

Best Private Bank 2014 by World Finance

Best Retail Bank 2014 by World Finance

Fastest Growing Retail Bank Myanmar 2014 by orTie

Global Banking & Finance Review Awards ¥2014+

Most Innovative Banking Services (AYA iBanking)

Myanmar 2014 by Global Banking & Finance Review Awards

Banker of the year 2014 by Myanmar Times
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Best Private Bank 2013 by World Finance
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Learning &

Development

2017 - 2018

Based on rapid expansion of AYA bank, Learning
and Development Department is responsible for the
development of qualified employees who can handle
banking operation very well. Moreover, different training
programs such as technical trainings and career
development trainings are delivered to respective staffs
based on their needs. Basic Banking Training programs
and Refresher Training Programs are operating at Pin
Lon Training Center and Hlaing Tharyar Training.
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Enterprise

Risk Management

AYA Bank recognizes that an effective risk management
system must be in place to mitigate various risks to the
bank operations. AYA Bank adopts the risk management
policy to affirm its awareness of the need to establish a
program for Enterprise Risk Management (ERM). The
Board further commits to providing sufficient personnel
and other resources to ensure full implementation of an
enterprise risk management program.
AYA Bank will maintain an Enterprise Risk Management
policy and framework to coordinate the many aspects of
risk. ERM policy does not replace any existing risk and
compliance program, but serves to provide a cohesive
umbrella for all of the Risk management programs
currently in place.
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Compliance Risk Management

A major part of the Compliance Risk Management is
the strict adherence to Anti-Money Laundering (AML)
and Know-Your-Customer (KYC) regulations and the
consistent move to implement industry best practices.
AYA Bank complies with the Anti-Money Laundering
Law No0.11/2014 and the Control of Money Laundering
Law No.6/2002, and all regulations of the Central
Bank of Myanmar. The Bank has also adopted the
recommendations of the Financial Action Task Force

(FATF). The Bank’s Anti-Money Laundering/Combating
the Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT) Policy established
governing principles and procedures to protect the Bank
from being used or implicated in money laundering or
terrorist financing activities. The Bank has also adopted
the KYC Policy,and implemented the “Reporting of
Suspicious Transaction” system and proper record
keeping.

All AYA Bank employees, wherever located, must be
vigilant in the fight against money laundering and must
not allow AYA Bank to be used for money laundering
activities.
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Know Your Customer Policy
It is imperative to have in place adequate policies,
practices and procedures that promote high ethical
and professional standards to prevent our bank from
being used, intentionally or unintentionally, by criminal
elements. The three key principles founded on the
“Know Your Customer” policy, which would undermine
the success of criminals are:
Customer Acceptance Policy:
Customer due Diligence Measures
Enhance due diligence Measures for Higher Risk
Customers
On-Going Monitoring of High Risk Transactions and
Accounts
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Customer due Diligence Measures
The Bank shall take customer due diligence measures,
including the identification of their customers and the
verification of their customers’ identity and obtaining
information on the purpose and intended nature of the
business relationship. The Bank shall comply with all the
laws and regulations of Central Bank of Myanmar and
where possible adopt the recommendations of FATF.
Compliance Officer’s Roles and Responsibilities
Screening for suspicious transactions. Receive,
collect, analyze and assess all suspicious
transactions.
Compile and report statistics and records to
Management.
* To register  suspicious persons lists (people,
organization, companies) occasionally requested by
CBM and FIU and check against existing customers’
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information once a month.

» Checking internal compliance condition of AML/
CFT policies and procedures.

» Conduct due diligence on suspicious transactions.

* Maintain records of AML/CFT.

* Remind the staffs to keep confidential on customers’
information and AML/CFT reporting as well.

» To provide training and enhance knowledge as
appropriate to always keep awareness in their
respective fields as regards AML/CFT.
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Training

AYA Bank provides AML/CFT awareness briefing as part
of induction course for new staff joining at the Bank.
Moreover, comprehensive training are provided at least
once a year to relevant staff who are responsible to
implement the KYC policy. General trainings related to
AML/CFT which is provided annually includes changes
in laws, regulations, procedures.
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Audit Risk and Compliance
Committee (ARCC)

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC)is a
Board level committee and is responsible for providing
assistance to the Board of Directors in fulfilling their
responsibility to the shareholders and investment
community related to corporate accounting, reporting
practices, the quality and integrity of financial reports,
and the quality and effective administration of the controls
and procedures of all systems and work processes.
To formulate policies relating to risk management that
is consistent with the strategic direction and overall risk
appetite as set by the BOD. To ensure that the senior
management operate within the risk tolerance limits set
and to recommend changes as and when appropriate
in line with any significant changes in internal and
external environment. Monitor and regular review of the
effectiveness of Risk Management Policy.

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (ARCC)
was established by the Board of Directors vide their

resolution dated on 4th April’ 2014. The purpose of the
Committee is to review and monitor the effectiveness of
the Bank’s controls in the areas of internal and external
audit functions, operational and financial risks, legal
and regulatory compliance and financial reporting. The
Committee will consult with, give advice to, and report to
the Board on all relevant matters and the decisions of the
Board shall be final.

Authority
e To obtain information from, and access to,
management.

» To appoint and direct Internal and External Auditors.
* To consult directly with internal and external auditors.
* To meet independently of management, with internal
or external auditors if required.
» To obtain independent advice matters relating to
the business and management of the bank as it
deems appropriate.
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Role & Responsibilities
The role of the ARCC is to:

e Oversee the adequacy of the controls established by
senior management;

e |dentify and manage areas of potential risk and to
safeguard the assets of the Bank and its shareholders;

e Oversee the integrity of the Bank’s financial and
prudential reporting;

e Oversee the appointment and performance of the
Bank’s internal and external audit functions generally,
including the independence of the external auditor;
and

e Evaluate the process in place to ensure that accounting
records are properly maintained in accordance with
statutory requirements and financial information
provided to the regulators, shareholders and the Board
is accurate and consistent.
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Enterprise Risk Management

Department’s Responsibilities

The role of the ARCC is to:

* Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Bank’s
risk management framework (as identified in the
Bank’s Risk Management Policy)

* Assess whether the right risks have been identified
and are appropriately managed

* Gain an understanding of the current areas of
greatest risk (financial and non-financial) and review
these areas on a regular basis

e Obtain regular updates from management, the
Bank’s legal counsel, auditors and any external
parties, as deemed appropriate, regarding audit,
financial reporting, and risk management and
compliance matters

* Review the adequacy of the Management Information
& Intelligence Systems for appropriate management
of the Bank’s customers, businesses, risks and
profitability

* Periodically review the effectiveness of the
Compliance function , including the process of
monitoring for compliance with CBM laws and
regulations and the results of management’s
investigations and follow-ups (including disciplinary
action) of any fraudulent acts or non-compliance

* Review the findings of any examinations by regulatory
agencies and any material correspondence with such



agencies

Ensure that there is a process in place for the
Chairman of the Board and the ARCC Chairman &
Secretary are immediately informed of any material
non-compliance matter or material litigation is
accurate and consistent.
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Operations Review
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Introduction
AYABank continue to focus on aggressive growth strategy
for all its preferred customer segments by development
of a+3 roadmap comprising of three businesses and
four operations strategic priorities.
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Business Strategies

Channels Expansion with significant branch presence,
widened E-channels and dedicated centers to reach out
and enhance customer relationships Product Innovation
to meet the needs of target customer groups for cash
management and returns on idle funds.
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Financing Opportunities
Developing customer centric programs to engage and
deepen business relationships with customers
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Operations Strategies

Human resources programs and activities to enhance
competencies in order to inculcate the spirit of teamwork
and promote loyalty within the work- place Technology
as core business enabler ensuring maximum uptime,
efficiency through automation core processes and
support for extensive multi e-channel solutions

Banking operations activities focusing on a customer
first view, an effective and efficient operations under a
controlled and standardized operating environment.
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Business Development Activities

The overarching business focus is to aggressively grow
liability based products, ensure quality assets and to
enhance fee based income. This is executed through our
three pronged strategy of channels expansion, product
Innovation and customer centricity.

Activities and achievement for the reporting year includes:
Channels expansion

Number of branches grew significantly from 150 to
230 and counting providing our clients with greater
accessibility in all states and divisions

Providing 24 hours service and easy access for our
clients with the launch of our mobile and internet banking.
Enhance service features of our internet banking
service by providing corporate users with enhanced
administrative control and the ability to process bulk
scheduled payments.
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Product Innovation

Launch of our fully automated Cash Management
Services comprising collection, payments and liquidity
management services for corporate clients Expansion
of our hire purchase program to sectors. Introduction
of import and export financing to sup- port our clients
in effective management of their working capital
requirements.
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Customer Centricity
To enhance our service level, we launched a customer
service program focused on improvements in efficiency,
care, professionalism, reliability and convenience.
Alignment of business processes based on customer-
first view.
Launch of our AYABank Royal Premier Banking to support
our most important clients with exceptional service,
lifestyle benefits and differentiated product offering.
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Banking Operations and Enabling
Activities

AYA Bank continues to focus on enhancing its core
activities to develop the human resources competencies,
leverage the technology capabilities and align banking
operations with business and control needs.

Progress made in each of the above competencies
includes:

Banking Operations

Initiated the branch transformation program aimed at
enhancing and streamlining processes with business
workflows and physical requirements of the branch
Review and documentation of business processes to
ensure standardized operating procedures

Instituted secondary controls as a way to strengthen the
overall control system
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Technology

Commissioning of the new Switches to provide cutting
edge capabilities including multi-channels management
and customer relationship management capabilities
Commissioning of the new tier 2 data centers which will
provide high availability and redundancy Establishment of
monitoring and escalation systems to ensure maximum
uptime for all core applications

Human Resources
§é30|°_,~73 Training efficacy was significantly improved through
08 Conpb:Boes3fCaomn gbeeonqodypisé  establishment of the second fully functional training

. e : .
m:o?:o]?qp:§§ oo(ysgoqu(&emg:g%eoq%gaog(ﬁ center continued recognition of staff performance and

loyalty through internal promotions benefits scheme to
promote loyalty, teamwork and work place safety.
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Retail Strategy

AYA Bank has identified multiple opportunities in the
rapid acquisition of its customers. Myanmar’s current
population is in excess of 52 million, and +95%of
citizens are yet to participate in formal banking.
These individuals are significant to AYA Bank as they
are all future customers. AYA Bank understands the
need to educate the population in order to build trust and
confidence around the AYA Bank brand, and the financial
industry as a whole

A two prong strategy was adopted focusing on the
young students (who will the future potential

customers) and working adults of the country. These

are the potentially customers who will have no barrier
to AYA's banking services.

To capture the young customer segment who will be
future working individuals and consumer drivers in this
country, AYA Bank engages tertiary institutions
numbering more than 220 throughout the country.

Given that +60% of Myanmar’s population is below 35
years of age, this is the largest pipeline of customers
who will soon join the work force as well as drive
consumer spending.

Special card programs are tailored for tertiary students
to help them understand and subscribe to simple and
relevant banking services such as opening of saving
account linked to MPU Debit cards for easy access to
the bank. Numerous workshops and sponsorships are
organized to engage these students with the support of
these tertiary institutions’ administrations.

For the working adults, AYA Bank designed 4 in 1 retail
product bundle offering the opening of a savings/current
account, MPU Debit card, iBanking and M-Banking
accounts. This 4 in 1 product is been offered through
road shows conducted at branches as well as off-site at
locations with high customer traffic. Specialized sales
teams also work closely with relationship managers to
focus on corporate customers of the bank to tap their
employees’ net- works.

MPU Debit Cards, Visa &Master Card prepaid cards and
Visa Credit Cards are the bank’s “lead card products”
for new customer acquisition. Once acquired, bank staff
cross sell and up sell other relevant retail products,
such as the opening of a savings/current account, fixed
deposits and easy access services such as iBanking and
mBanking for convenience.
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Operations Strategies

Enhance clients experience with a customer first and
relationship based approach

Improve cost efficiencies by focusing on expense
management covering staff, channels; enhance
productivity by focusing on contribution to overall topline
growth in terms of customers, products and revenue to
staff ratio process and technology

Manage operation risks in probability and expect loss
through building of a risk culture, managing probability of
loss and firm corrective measures on expect loss
Continuous improvement by creating a continuous
learning and improvement culture through good
governance and creating a learning and performance
base organization
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Corporate Social Responsibility
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Ever since its establishment in 2010, AYA Bank has
played a leadership role in Corporate Social
Responsibilities (CSR) ) in the fields of Education, Health
and Social Sectors in partnership with the Ayeyarwady
Foundation founded by Chairman U Zaw Zaw on the
same year..

With the aim to invest and support the future generations
of Myanmar, AYA Bank, directly and through Ayeyarwady
Foundation, is mainly focused on implementing its CSR
activities in the areas of Education and Health. AYA
Bank also actively participates in the areas of donating
blood, initiating road safety campaign, supporting and
donating to victims of natural disasters and renovation
and rehabilitation process.

National development is integral to the bank’s ethos,
especially in order to maintain a sustainable future within
Myanmar. Thus AYA Bank together with Ayeyarwady
Foundation aims to promote Human Resources Capacity
Building by granting individuals scholarships and
subsidies within the health care, and education sectors,
donating educational equipment to children, providing
yearly scholarship to primary/high school students, and
even supporting them through their to finish University
education.

Moreover, both the Bank and the Foundation have
been renovating old schools and building new schools
and extensions for existing schools across the country.
Through such support programs the staff, students and
parents are all motivated and could better concentrate
on learning as there are new school buildings with a well-
built and equipped classrooms.

AYA Bank and Ayeyarwady Foundation regularly donate
medicines, support medical assistance to impoverished
people and build medical facilities including ambulances
across the country.

The Foundation provides hospitals with physical support,
for example, through the procurement of required medical
equipment. It also offers monetary support to those
patients who are unable to afford their own treatments.
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AYA Bank’s Commitment to
Community

As a leading bank in Myanmar, AYA Bank comprehends
that the community plays an important role to achieve
sustainable growth. This is the reason why the Bank
consistently prioritizes community focused initiatives. As
a small example, AYA Bank’s prefers to hire staff from
within the local communities particularly for branches
outside the main urban centers. Many of the new hires
often never had a bank account before joining AYA Bank,
yet gradually, their friends, family and community also
start to bank with AYA Bank.governance and creating a
learning and performance base organization.
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AYA Bank & the United Nations Global
Compact Initiative

Barely 3 years into incorporation in August 2012. AYA
Bank joined the United Nations Global Compact of UNGC
initiative. This was a corporate milestone for AYA Bank, as
it was the first Myanmar Bank to commit to redesign the
Bank’s business operations and strategies in accordance
with UNGC’s policies regarding human rights, labor
standards, the environment and anti-corruption.

For the fiscal year 2017-2018, AYA Bank’'s CSR efforts
were more geared towards educating and creating
awareness for being environmentally friendly and
socially responsible. One of our main initiatives was the
Awareness Program with the theme “Save Paper, Save
Trees, Save the Environment” for our internal customers.
Awareness stickers were shared across Headquarter
and branches of AYA Bank to educate and remind our
employees to decrease un- necessary usage of paper,
electricity and water.

Stickers were placed in visible areas and locations where
common use of office equipment are at and also other
areas such as Bathrooms, Toilets and Doors .Another
awareness program we embarked on was to educate
and make aware on the importance of having separated
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bins for recyclable waste. This program benefits both
our internal customers (employees), external customers
(bank customers) as well as other stakeholders (visitors,
vendors, etc ) as separate bins for dumping of such
waste have been put across at both the Head office level
and our Yangon branches.

As another awareness initiative, we organized a Seat Belt
Campaign Movement for the general public on August
2017 to be responsible drivers and citizens. Corporate
Affairs Department initiated the campaign and AYA
Bank staff joined in efforts to distribute the Seat Belts
and awareness stickers to our Customers’ cars, and
those of the general public who have been commuting
around Yangon city hall area. This initiative was very well
received.

AYA Bank’s objective in carrying out such aware- ness
programs is to also actively play a partin the improvement
of the country’s socio aspects and not only proactively
participate in economic development.
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AYA Bank’s Blood Donation Drives

AYA Bank employees are proud donors, and actively
participate in the blood donation drives every year. In
March 2011, AYA Bank initiated its first Blood Donation
Drive at the Yankin Children’s Hospital. Due to the
overwhelming response, the 2nd Blood Donation drive
was organized soon afterward. In September 2014,
Ayeyarwady Bank held its 4th Blood Donation Drive
at the Mandalay General Hospital where 122 donated
blood. In September 2015, Ayeyarwady Bank held
its 5th Blood Donation Drive at National Blood Center
(Yangon) where 271 staffs donated blood. And then 6th
Blood Donation Drive was held at National Blood Center
(Yangon) on 11th June 2016. Where 317 staffs donated
blood. In August 2017, Ayeyarwady Bank held its 7th
Blood Donation Drive at National Blood Center (Yangon)
where 300 staffs donated blood.
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Financial Statements

Period Ended September 30, 2018

AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to submit their statement to the members, together with the audited statement
of financial position of Ayeyarwady Bank Limited (the “Bank”), the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows together with the
notes to the financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2018. These have been prepared
in accordance with the provisions of Myanmar Companies Law (the “Law"”) and the Myanmar Financial
Reporting Standards ("MFRS"), including the modification of the requirements of Myanmar Accounting
Standards 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in respect of loan loss provisioning
by the Central Bank of Myanmar ("CBM") Notification No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning
Regulations, and the Section 39 of Financial Institution Law ("FIL") 2016.

In the opinion of the Directors, the statement of financial position of the Bank and the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows,
together with the notes thereon, as set out on pages 4 to 47, are drawn up so as to give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Bank as at September 30, 2018, and the financial performance,
changes in equity and cash flows of the Bank for the period then ended and at the date of this statement,
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts when they fall
due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

VW | -

e g e g e e T s e B A 4 AT VB o, YT T R
" Sl ‘;‘f’“ ! Than Zaw Chairman
anaging virectar ., Vice Chairman (2) Ayeyarwady Bank Limitso

rwvevarwedy Bank Limited. Ayeyarwady Bank Limited

pate: .3 0 AUG 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Ayeyarwady Bank Limited (the “Bank”), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at September 30, 2018, the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the period
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out
on pages 4 to 47.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with the Myanmar Companies Law (the “Law”), Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards
(*"MFRS"), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Myanmar Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material aspects, the financial position of the
Bank as at September 30, 2018 and its financial performance and cash flows for the period then ended in
accordance with the provisions of Myanmar Companies Law (the “Law”) and the Myanmar Financial Reporting
Standards ("MFRS”) including the modification of the requirements of Myanmar Accounting Standards 39,
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in respect of loan loss provisioning by the Central Bank
of Myanmar (“CBM") Notification No. 17/2017, Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations, and the
Section 39 of Financial Instruction Law ("FIL") 2016.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 31.1 to the financial statements disclosing an event after the end of the reporting
period ended September 30, 2018. This relates to an instruction by the Central Bank of Myanmar ("CBM")
on March 13, 2019 to make a provision of 10,981 million Kyats in relation to certain loans extended by the
Bank due to protracted delays in the commencement of the borrower’s operations and the absence of
sufficient collaterals. The Bank has assessed and concluded that this does not relate to a condition that
existed at the end of the reporting period as the loans are not past due based on the terms of the loans and
are not non-performing loans. Consequently, this is a non-adjusting event and to be recorded in the
subsequent financial period on April 30, 2019. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the provisions of the Law, we report that:

(1) we have obtained all information and explanations we have required; and
(2) books of account have been maintained by the Bank as required by Section 258 of the Law.

Also, in accordance with Section 89 of the Financial Institutions Law of Myanmar 2016, we report that the

financial statements of the Bank adequately reflect in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank
and its solvency.

Cho Cho Aung Tin
Certified Public Accountant
Yangon, Myanmar

Date : August 30, 2019
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
September 30, 2018

In Kyats millions

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Placement with other financial institutions
Investment securities

Loan and advances

Bills receivable

Other assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES

Depaosits from banks
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities

Total Liabilities

EQUITY

Share capital
Reserves
Retained earnings
Total Equity

Total Liabilities and Equity
OFF-BALANCE SHEET

Contingent liabilities
Commitments

Note

10
11

14
12
13

15
16
17

18

19

27
28

September 30, 2018

March 31, 2018

761,552.2 774,706.3
282,406.0 300,351.9
1,270,811.8 803,069.5
2,740,447.8 2,574,328.5
47,990.8 40,158.6
168,737.7 118,820.5
357,301.5 353,734.5
4,388.5 )

5,633,636.3

4,965,169.8

23,584.6 33,103.0
5,263,108.3 4,663,001.0
149,991.5 107,291.6

5,436,684.4

4,803,395.6

125,000.0 120,000.0
65,629.4 41,422.0
6,322.5 352.2
196,951.9 161,774.2

5,633,636.3

4,965,169.8

252,042.9
182,418.5

291,636.7
208,887.9

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

W/

g
.............. it Zza e
Managing Director Vice Chairman (2) Zow Zaw
nyevarwady Bank Limited! Ayeyarwady Bank Limited Chairman
Ayeyarwady Bank Limiteq,

Date: 9§ 0 AUG ’ng
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Period ended September 30, 2018

April 1, 2018 to April 1, 2017 to
In Kyats millions Note September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018
Interest income 21 202,501.2 374,062.9
Interest expense 21 (167,482.2) (313,691.1)
Net interest income 35,019.0 60,371.8
Fee and commission income 22 25,029.2 43,667.9
Fee and commission expense 22 (1,320.7) (3,944.4)
Other income (expense) 23 31,527.7 (1,032.6)
Net non-interest income 55,236.2 38,690.9
Income before operating expenses 90,255.2 99,062.7
General and administrative expense 24 (26,370.6) (56,325.6)
Operating lease expense 28 (3,827.8) (7,403.3)
Depreciation and amortisation 12 (8,355.0) (14,751.3)
Other operating expense 25 (807.7) (1,853.3)
Provision for doubtful debts 11 (10,349.4) =
Total expenses (49,710.5) (80,333.5)
Profit before tax 40,544.7 18,729.2
Income tax expense 26 (10,367.0) (5,731.0)
Net profit for the period representing total
comprehensive income for the period 30,177.7 12,998.2

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

2 l -

A
................................................ e R - AN AP A T
Myint Zaw Than Zaw Zaw Zaw
M ing i Vice Chairman (2 e
anaging Director ‘ an (2) Ayeyarwady Bank Limited.

Aveyarwady Bank Limiteg, /Y Y224y Bank Limited

Date :
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Period ended September 30, 2018

In Kyats millions Note September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 40,544.7 18,729.2
Adjustment for:
- Depreciation and amortisation 12 8,355.0 14,751.3
- Specific allowance 10,349.4 -
- Effects of fixed assets written off 12 24.9 10.0
- Gain on disposal of property and equipment (58.4) -
59,215.6 33,490.5
Changes in
- Placement with other financial institutions 17,945.9 (162,103.9)
- Investment securities (467,742.3) (254,847.6)
- Loan and advances (176,468.7) (226,246.3)
- Bills receivable (7,832.2) (18,703.7)
- Other assets (52,643.3) (47,393.1)
- Deposits from banks (9,518.4) (25,772.1)
- Deposits from customers 600,107.3 769,969.0
- Other liabilities 39,303.5 15,283.6
2,367.4 83,676.4
Income tax paid (10,069.1) (6,750.0)
Net cash (used in) / from operating activities (7,701.7) 76,926.4

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (6,195.9) (49,146.2)
Acquisition of intangible assets (4,388.5) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant

and equipment 132.0 321.3
Net cash used in investing activities (10,452.4) (48,824.9)

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of share capital 18 5,000.0 20,000.0
Net cash from financing activities - 5,000.0 20,000.0
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash
equivalents (13,154.1) 48,101.5
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the

period/ year 774,706.3 726,604.8
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period /

year 761,552.2 774,706.3

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements.
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements.
1. GENERAL

Ayeyarwady Bank Limited (the “Bank”) is a private limited banking company registered by Ministry
of National Planning and Economic Development, Directorate of Investment and Company
Administration by its Registration No. 110312156 (former Registration No. 397 of 2010-2011)
incorporated on June 14, 2010.

A Banking License No.MaPaBa/P-23/(7) 2010 was issued on July 2, 2010 by the CBM to perform the
functions initially restricted to item (a), (b), (h) and (i) of Section 25 of The Financial Institutions of
Myanmar Law (1990) with provision that any additional functions will have to be applied for in
advance from the CBM.

The Bank’s main activities include not only Local Currency Banking and transactions, Loans &
Overdrafts, but it was granted a Money Changer Licence No.CBM, FE MD (15/2011) dated October 24,
2011, and an Authorized Dealer Licence No. CBM, FE MD (77/2011) dated November 25, 2011. The
Bank can therefore provide all banking services and transactions in both local and foreign currencies
at the same time.

The CBM issued instruction 6/2016 dated June 30, 2016, directing all banks to surrender their
licenses under Section 176 of the Financial Institutions Law enacted in January 2016 (“FIL2016")
before the deadline of July 25, 2016, and to apply for a new one under Section 11 of the FIL2016.

As directed by the CBM, the Bank also surrendered the license mentioned in paragraphs above and
simultaneously reapplied for the new license under FIL2016. The new license number
MA BA BA / PA BA (R)-13/08/2016 was issued under FIL2016 on August 24, 2016. The new license
for Commercial Banking Business is unconditional and more wide-ranging than the license
surrendered by the Bank.

As at September 30, 2018, the Bank has established two hundred and fourty-two (242) branches in
Myanmar. .

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of
Myanmar Companies Law (the “Law”) and the Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards ("MFRS") as
issued by the Myanmar Accountancy Council ("MAC”} including the modification of the requirements
of Myanmar Accounting Standards 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in
respect of loan loss provisioning by the Central Bank of Myanmar ("CBM") Notification No. 17/2017,
Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations, and the Section 39 of Financial Institution Law
("FIL") 2016 issued by the Central Bank of Myanmar (*CBM").

2,2 Reporting period

Pursuant to the CBM Notification Letter No. 224/kaka(1)/535/2017-2018 dated March 30, 2018, all
financial institutions are required to close their accounts for the transition period from April 1, 2018
to September 30, 2018. Accordingly, the Bank also changed its financial reporting period end from
March 31 to September 30 and the Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income,
Statements of Changes in Equity and Statements of Cash Flows for the six-month period ended
September 30, 2018 and twelve-month period ended March 31, 2018 are presented as comparative
figures of the current period financial statements. Therefore, the amounts presented in the financial
statements are not entirely comparable.
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

2.3 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial
instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Bank takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
financial statements is determined on such a basis.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are

observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

2.4 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Bank becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.5 Financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at Fair Value
Through Profit or Loss’ (“"FVTPL"), ‘Held-To-Maturity’ investments, ‘Available-For-Sale’ (“"AFS”)
financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.5 Financial assets (cont’'d)
2.5.1. Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and
of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial
assets classified as at FVTPL,

2.5.2 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is
designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Bank
manages together and has

o a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
the Bank’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and MAS 39 permits
the entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement
and recognised as Profit or Loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘other income’ and ‘other
expenses’ line items. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.2.

2.5.3 Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity dates that the Bank has the positive intent and ability to hold to
maturity. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.
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2,5 Financial assets (cont’'d)

2.5.4 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents and
placement with other financial institutions) are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial.

2.5.5 Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.

Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial assets relating to changes in foreign
currency rates, interest income calculated using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS
equity investments are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying amount of
available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is
determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

The fair value of AFS monetary financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
The foreign exchange gains and losses that are recognised in profit or loss are determined based on
the amortised cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not
reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of investments
revaluation reserve.

In respect of AFS debt securities, impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss
if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the recognition of the impairment loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery
of such unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at
the end of each reporting period.
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

2.5 Financial assets (cont'd)

2.5.6 Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of
each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected, and an
impairment loss recognised.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or
the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial
assets with the exception of loans and advances, where the carrying amount is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. When a loans and advances is considered uncoliectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss.

Credit quality - Classification of loans and advances, specific provisions and general provisions

Classification of loans and advances

The Bank categorises its loans and advance in accordance to MFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures to be categorised into “impaired”, “past due but not impaired” and “current, standard
and not impaired”. Past due loans refer to loans that are overdue by one day or more. Impaired
loans are non-performing loans with specific allowances made.

Furthermore, the Bank also categories their loans past due in accordance with CBM Notification No.
17/2017 Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations.

The Bank categorises its loans and advances in accordance with CBM’s regulation No. 17/2017 on
Loan Grading and Provisioning. In addition, loans and advances are required under MFRS 7 to be
categorised into “impaired”, “past due but not impaired” and “current, standard and not
impaired”. Past due loans refer to loans that are overdue by one day or more. Impaired loans are
non-performing loans with specific allowances made.
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

2.5 Financial assets (cont’'d)

2.5.6 Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

(i) Performing loans

Current and Standard grades indicate that the timely repayment of the outstanding credit facilities is
not in doubt and the credit facility does not exhibit any potential weakness in repayment capability,
business, cash flow or financial position of the borrower.

Watch grade indicates that the borrower exhibits potential weaknesses that, if not corrected in a timely
manner, may affect future repayments and warrant close attention by the Bank.

Sub-standard grade indicates that the credit facilities exhibit definable weaknesses either in respect of
business, cash flow or financial position of the borrower that may jeopardise repayment on existing
terms.

(ii) Non-performing loans

In accordance with CBM Notification No. 17/2017 Asset Classification and Provisioning Regulations,
“non-performing” means a loan or advance that is no longer generating income and which is classified
as doubtful or loss.

In determining if the loan is non-performing, management also considers several factors such as
expected future cash flows, the financial ability of the borrower to meet its obligations, and business
and economic conditions.

Doubtful grade indicates that the credit facilities exhibit severe weaknesses such that the prospect of
full recovery of the outstanding credit facilities is questionable and the prospect of a loss is high, but
the exact amount remains undeterminable.

Loss grade indicates the amount of loan recovery is assessed to be insignificant. As per the CBM’s
instruction, all loans with repayments over 180 days past due are classified as “Loss”.

Specific Provisions

The Bank makes specific provision for impairment of loans and advances and other assets on and off
balance sheet in accordance with CBM Notification No. 17/2017 Asset Classification and Provisioning

Regulations.
Classification of Provisions on shortfall
loans and advances Days past due in security value
Standard 30 days past due 0%
Watch 31 to 60 days past due 5%
Substandard 61 to 90 days past due 25%
Doubtful 91 to 180 days past due 50%
Loss Over 180 days past due ~100%

The specific provision shall be recorded in the Bank’s accounts and charged to the profit and loss
account in the month in which it occurs and shall not be spread over future periods. The Bank can
however stagger the shortfall in the specific provisioning in equal amounts over a period of three
years from the date of the Notification as prescribed in CBM Notification
No. 17/2017 paragraph 20.

Collaterals and credit enhancements are disclosed in Note 5.1.1.1
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Financial assets (cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

General Provisions

Banks are required to maintain general loan loss reserve by making general provision of 2%
(March 2018: 2%) of total outstanding loans and advances in accordance to CBM Notification No.
17/2017 Assets Classification and Provisioning Regulations.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party. If the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Bank
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Bank retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Bank continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised
in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Bank retains an option
to repurchase part of a transferred asset), the Bank allocates the previous carrying amount of the
financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, and the
part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts on the date of the
transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer
recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any
cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised in profit or loss. A cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that continues to be recognised and the part
that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.



AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

2.6 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

2.6.1 Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Bank are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

2.6.2 Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Bank are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchase of the Bank’s own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Bank’s own equity instruments.

2.7 Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

2.7.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or
it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
. it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Bank
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with
the Bank’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and MAS 39 permits
the entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other income’ and ‘other
expenses’ line items. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.2.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

2.7 Financial liabilities (cont’'d)

2.7.2 Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and

of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that

exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that

form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net

carrying amount on initial recognition.

2.7.3 Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when

due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Bank are initially measured at their fair values and, if
not designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with MAS 37;
and
o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised

in accordance with the revenue recognition policies.

2.7.4 Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Bank derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

2.8 Revenue recognition

2.8.1 Interest income and expense

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument
and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where
appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial instruments “at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss”.

In accordance to the CBM Notification No. 17/2017 Assets Classification and Provisioning Regulations,
all interest income from non-performing loans are suspended in Loans and advances (Note 11) and
shall only be recognized as income when the interest has been collected by the Bank.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

2.8 Revenue recognition (cont’'d)

2.8.2 Fees and commission income

Fee income is earned from a diverse range of services provided by the Bank to its customers. Fee
income is accounted for as follows:

. income earned on the execution of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the act

is completed (for example, commission arising from issuance of Payment Orders,
Telegraphic Transfer and remittance and other services);

. income earned from the provision of financial facilities to customers is recognised as revenue
as the services are provided (for example, default fees on loans, service charges and
commitment fee for loans overdrafts), usually on a time — apportion basis.

2.9 Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

2.9.1 The Bank as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Initial direct costs incurred by the Bank in negotiating and arranging operating leases are recognised
in profit or loss when incurred. Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in profit or loss in
the financial period /year in which they are incurred.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required
to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the financial period /year
in which termination takes place.

2.10 Foreign currencies

The financial statements of the Bank are measured and presented in the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Bank operates (its functional currency). The functional currency
of the Bank is assessed to be the Myanmar Kyat by management.

In preparing the financial statements for the Bank, transactions in currencies other than the Bank's
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period.

Annual Report
2017 - 2018

71




72

AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED
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2.11

2.11.1

2.12

2.12.1

2.12.2

Employee benefits

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present
value of the estimated future cash outfiows expected to be made by the Bank in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period/ year. Taxable profit equates to
‘profit before tax’ as reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because there are minimal items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible.

The Bank’s current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilltles in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Bank expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Annual Report

2017 - 2018



AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

2.12 Taxation (cont'd)

2.12.3 Current and deferred tax for the period / year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and
deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

2.13 Property, Plant and equipment

Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Bank’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified and included in the respective
categories of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Buildings, fixtures and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold land
and properties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis.

. Buildings 50 years

o Leasehold improvements Over period of the lease
° Office machine and other equipment 10 years

B Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10 years

o Electrical equipment and computer accessories 5 years

o Motor vehicles 10 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
During the financial period / year, the Bank reassessed the useful lives of its property and equipment
and revised the useful life of buildings.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at end of each
period / year-end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

2.14 Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful life of 5 years. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Annual Report
2017 - 2018

73




AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

2.15 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Bank reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Bank estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets gre also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.16 Repurchase and Reverse-Repurchase agreements

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase at a specified future date are not derecognized from
the statement of financial position as the Bank retains substantially all the risk and rewards of
ownership. The corresponding cash received is recognized in the statement of financial position as
an asset with a corresponding obligation to return it, including accrued interest as a liability within
‘repurchase agreements’. Reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan to the bank. The
difference between the sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense and is accrued over
the life of agreement using the effective interest rate.

Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell at a specified future date are not
recognized in the statement of financial position. The consideration paid, including accrued interest,
is recorded in the statement of financial position within ‘reverse repurchase agreements’ (Note 9),
reflecting the transaction’s economic substance as a loan by the Bank. The difference between the
purchase and resale prices is treated as interest income and is accrued over the life of agreement
using the effective interest rate.
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2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Bank will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect
of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Bank’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the directors of
the Bank are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

3.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2 to the
financial statements, the management did not make any critical judgements that have a significant
effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements.

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment losses on loans and advances

A loan is impaired when there is objective evidence that events since the loan was granted, have
affected expected cash flows from the loan. The impairment loss is the difference between the
carrying value of the loan and the present value of estimated future cash flows at the loan’s original
effective interest rate. The Bank reviews its loans and advances to assess impairment on a regular
basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, management
exercises judgement on whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the loan before the decrease can be identified
within an individual loan. The Bank recognizes an impairment loss equivalent to the security shortfall
of each individual loan, in accordance with the requirement under the CBM Notification No. 17/2017
including its annexure on the criteria for the valuation of security and collateral. The impairment
methodology is disclosed in more detail in 2,5.6.
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3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

All impaired loans that exceed specific thresholds are individually assessed for impairment.
Impairment losses are recognised as the difference between the carrying value of the loan and the
discounted value of management’s best estimate of future cash repayments and proceeds from any
collaterals held. These estimates take into account the customer’s debt capacity and financial
flexibility; the amount and sources of cash flows; and the realisable value of any security held.
Estimating the quantum and timing of future recoveries involves significant judgement. The size of
receipts will depend on the future performance of the borrower and the value of security, both of
which will be affected by future economic conditions. Additionally, collateral may not be readily
marketable. The actual amount of future cash flows and the date they are received may differ from
these estimates. Consequently, actual losses incurred may differ from those recognised in these
financial statements.

Useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives are depreciated and
ammortised over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. Management estimates the useful
lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets based on expected usage and industry
norms. Changes in the expected level of maintenance, usage and technological developments could
impact the useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges
could be revised.

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
4.1 Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period.

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018
Financial Assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,393.5 2,393.5
Held-to-maturity investments 1,268,418.3 800,676.0
Loans and receivables 3,946,454.4 3,748,768.6
Total 5,217,266.2 4,551,838.1

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 5,426,874.9 4,796,260.6

4.2 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities. The fair value of a financial
instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged or settled between
knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

As at the end of each reporting period, the Bank did not hold any financial instruments which are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis. The unquoted equity investments classified as available-
for-sale, are carried at cost, less impairment because the fair value cannot be reliably estimated
using valuation techniques supported by observable market data determined.

Except for long term Government treasury bonds which are classified as held-to-maturity,
management considers that the carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities of the Bank
recorded as amortised cost in the financial statements approximates their fair value, due to the
relative short-term maturity of those financial instruments.
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4.2 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)

As quoted prices are not available from active markets, the fair value of the Government treasury
bonds were determined using a discounted cash flow method, based on the contractual cash flows
and current coupon rates as at the end of each reporting period. As at the end of the financial year,
these instruments which are recorded at amortised cost approximates the fair value.

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank's activities are principally related to extending loans and advances, accepting deposits and
carrying out transactions. These expose the Bank to a variety of financial risks, including foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Managing these financial risks forms an integral part of the Bank’s business. The Bank adopts the
risk management set out in accordance to the risk appetite of the Bank, which encompass a variety
of controls and reporting processes. These not only include risk parameters for the various financial
instruments that the Bank may undertake, but also directions on the types of business that the Bank
may engage in, guidelines for the acceptance of customers for all types of financial instruments and
terms under which customer business is conducted.

The Bank believes that it has effective processes in place to identify, measure, monitor and ultimately,
mitigate these financial risks.

A discussion on the main financial risks that the Bank is exposed to and how these risks are managed,
is set out below.

5.1 Credit Risk

Credit risk is considered to be the risk of loss due to inability or unwillingness of the counterparty to
fulfil its payment obligations to the Bank. Management has a credit policy in place. The Bank
generally holds full collaterals against the credit facilities granted and the right to dispose of the
collaterals when certain exposure thresholds are exceeded. The Bank generally only accepts land
and buildings as collaterals, with other types of collaterals such as golds and machineries making up
the minority of the population of collateral held. Credit evaluations to derive the Bank’s risk
exposures according to internal policies are performed on all clients at the inception of the loans and
at loan roll over dates.

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of
these is the taking of security for loans and advances, which is a common practice. The Bank
implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation.
The principal collateral types for loans and advances include charges over land and buildings, gold,
equipment, contract financing, guarantees, project contracting and residential properties.

All credit lending to non-bank customers are generally secured. In addition, in order to minimise
credit loss, the Bank will seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment
indicators are noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances.

The fair value of collateral is valued by an independent assessor is based on valuation techniques
commonly used for the corresponding assets, done before the inception of the loan. Loans are usually
given between the margins of 30% to 70% of the Forced Sale Value, which is also independently
estimated. There is periodic revaluation of the collaterals in subsequent periods and at the
renewal/roll-over of a loan, the customer is questioned about any changes to the collateral at which
point the need for a reappraisal will be decided.

The credit risk management and control are centralized with the Credit Committee, which reports to
the Board of Directors on a monthly basis. Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular
analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment
obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate.
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5.1 Credit Risk (cont'd)

The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual credit facility on a periodic basis or when individual
circumstances require. Impairment allowances on individually assessed accounts are determined by
an evaluation of the incurred loss on a case-by-case basis and subject to the approval of Credit
Committee.

5.1.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk

The following table presents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting
period in respect of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet financial instruments, without taking
into account the value of any collateral or other security held, in the event the counterparties fail to
perform their obligations. The maximum exposure to credit risk to on-balance sheet is the carrying
amount of these instruments as reported in the statement of financial position. For contingent
liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount the Bank would have to pay
if the obligations of the instruments issued are called upon. For commitments, the maximum
exposure to credit risk is the full amount of undrawn credit facilities granted to customers.

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018

78

Cash and cash eqguivalents 392,087.7 380,404.9
Placement with other financial institutions 282,406.0 300,351.9
Investment securities 1,268,418.3 800,676.0
Loan and advances 2,740,447.8 2,574,328.5
Bills receivable 47,990.8 40,158.6
Other assets 114,057.6 59,222.7
Off-Balance Sheet

Contingent liabilities 252,042.9 291,636.7
Undrawn loan commitments 137,704.0 163,456.2
Total maximum exposure to credit risk 5,235,155.1 4,610,235.5
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5.1 Credit Risk (cont’'d)

5,1.1.1 Collateral and other credit enhancements
In respect of the Bank's deposits with other banks, the Bank considers the exposure to credit risk to
be low as these deposits are placed with credit-worthy financial institutions. The financial effect of

collateral or credit enhancements obtained for Other Assets are not expected to be significant.

For the loans and advances granted by the Bank, the following types of collateral and credit
enhancements are obtained, consistent with CBM Notification No. 17/2017 Annexure:

. Charges over land and buildings

° Charges over machines

. Mortgages over residential properties
o Gold

. Guarantees

L

Charges over receivables

Where collaterals are repossessed, the Bank’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed asset
can be best used for its internal operations or should be sold. Assets determined to be useful for the
internal operations are transferred to their relevant asset category at the lower of their repossessed
value or the carrying value of the original secured asset. Assets for which selling is determined to
be a better option are transferred to assets held for sale at their fair value or fair value less cost to
sell for non-financial assets at the repossession date in line with the Bank’s policy.

As at September 30, 2018, 99% (March 31, 2018: 98%) of the carrying amount of loans and

overdrafts as disclosed in note 11 are backed by tangible, realisable collateral and credit
enhancements.

5.1.2 Credit risk by industry

The following table sets out the Bank’s Loan and Advances based on the exposure by industry as at
the end of the reporting period:

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018

Agricultural 11,803.9 11,783.0
Construction 487,980.0 440,237.4
Livestock 7,884.0 3,329.0
Manufacturing 341,484.7 307,902.7
Service 502,241.5 482,680.0
Trading 1,125,660.0 1,116,683.9
Transportation 69,778.3 44,080.0
General 234,230.1 180,003.4
Interest in suspense (30,265.3) (12,370.9)
Specific allowance (10,349.4) =

2,740,447.8 2,574,328.5
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5,1 Credit Risk (cont'd)
5.1.3 Credit quality of loans and advances

The Bank adopts an internally developed credit rating scale, which generally corresponds to the
classification set out in the CBM Notification No. 17/2017 Asset Classification and Provisioning
Regulations (Note 2.5.6). The following tables sets out the credit classification of the Bank’s loans
and advances as at September 30, 2018.

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018
Current and Standard 2,346,182.4 2,139,338.3
Watch 36,080.0 114,949.4
Sub-standard 27,462.6 44,938.1
Doubtful 113,379.5 52,777.5
Loss 257,958.0 234,696.1
Interest in suspense (30,265.3) (12,370.9)
2,750,797.2 2,574,328.5
Less: Specific allowance _ _(10,349.4) -
2,740,447.8 2,574,328.5

Movement in the specific allowance for impairment losses for the loans and advances is as follows:
In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018

Balance at beginning of the period/ year - -
Specific allowance for impairment losses for
loans and advances recognised in profit or loss

Current and Standard - =

Watch 285.0 -
Sub-standard 741.5 -
Doubtful 2,604.4 -
Loss 6,718.5 -
Balance at end of the period/ year 10,349.4 -

The table below sets out information about the loans and advances held by the Bank required under
MFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018
Current, Standard and not impaired 2,346,182.4 2,139,337.3
Past due but not impaired 434,880.1 447,362.1
Impaired (10,349.4) -
Interest in suspense (30,265.3) (12,370.9)
2,740,447.8 2,574,328.5

Current, Standard and not impaired includes current loans with regular repayment and standard
loans with repayment between 1 to 30 days. The past due loans and advances are not impaired as
they are secured by tangible realizable collateral (referred to Note 5.1.1.1).
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5.2 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its cash flows obligations when they are due,
such as upon the maturity of deposits or arising from loan draw-downs.

It is unusual for any bank to completely match the maturity profile of its assets and liabilities since
business transacted is often of different terms and of different types. Therefore, controlled
mismatching of the maturities of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the management of liquidity
of the Bank.

The objective of liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Bank has the ability to generate
sufficient cash or its equivalents, in a timely and cost effectively manner, to meet its commitments
as they fall due.

The management of liquidity risk is centralised in the Treasury Department who reports to the
Management and Asset/Liability Committee ("ALCO”). ALCO meeting is held on a monthly basis to
oversee liquidity risk management of the Bank and is supplemented by a “Funds Meeting” which is
held weekly in addition to any meetings called by the Executive Management on a need to basis.
The Bank has in place Business Contingency Plan ("BCP”) which include disaster situation facing by
the Bank. The BCP covers operational steps and procedure of how to handle money transactions
during disaster situation, meeting all contingencies arising not only from the ordinary course of
business but also on liquidity crisis situation.

As part of its liquidity risk management framework set by the management and the regulatory
requirements stipulated by the local authority, the Bank is required to maintain adequate liquid
assets to manage its short-term liquidity. The Bank its overall liquidity investments in government
securities, borrowings with Central Bank of Myanmar and holding cash reserves. This serves to
ensure full cash inflows are available to meet customer withdrawals upon maturity.

5.2.1 Maturity analysis

The table below analyses the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities on a contractual undiscounted
cash flow basis, grouped based on the remaining contractual maturities as at the end of the reporting
period. The adjustment column includes items which are part of the contractual undiscounted cash
flows, such as interest payable or receivable, but are not included in the carrying amount of the
financial instruments in the statement of financial position.

On a behavioral basis, the expected cash flows of some of these financial liabilities could vary
significantly from the disclosures below. While deposits from customers are contractually on demand,
these deposits have remained and are expected to remain relatively stable, and has been a source
of long term funding for the Bank, based on historical trends. Similarly, while undrawn loan
commitments are contractually available on demand, these are not all expected to be drawn upon
immediately, and, available at the discretion of the Bank which has the defacto right to cancel the
availability of drawdown.
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5.3

Interest Rate Risk

Sensitivity to interest rates in banking activities arises from mismatches in the interest rate
characteristics of the assets and their corresponding liability funding. One of the major causes of
these mismatches is timing differences in the re-pricing of the assets and the liabilities.

Financial instruments which are issued at fixed rates expose the Bank to fair value interest rate risk.
However, changes in market interest rates will not have an impact on the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as all financial instruments are accounted for on an amortised cost
basis.

The interest rates charged or granted by the Bank are determined by a committee with oversight by
Board of Directors. These interest rates are set within a band determined by the Central Bank of
Myanmar. As of September 30, 2018, the interest rates on loans are subject to the following
maximum caps:

o Loans and advances: 12.5% - 13 % per annum (March 2018: 12.5% - 13 % per annum)
o Overdraft: 12 % per annum (March 2018: 12% per annum)

As at September 30, 2018, the interest rates on deposits are subject to the following minimums:

. Saving deposits: 8 % per annum (March 2018: 8% per annum)
o Fixed deposits: 8 - 10 % per annum (March 2018: 8-10% per annum)
o Call deposits: 2% per annum (March 2018: 2% per annum)

The tables below summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate repricing risks. Included in the
table are the Bank’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of
contractual repricing or maturity dates.

In October 2017, the Bank started offering a deposit product ~ “call deposit” where interest are
computed daily at a 2% per annum for deposits above MMK 1,000.
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

5.4 Currency risk (cont'd)

5.4.1 Currency sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a change in the relevant foreign currencies against the
functional currency of the Bank, Myanmar Kyat. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusted for their translation at the period end
for the change in foreign currency rates below.

The following table sets out the increase (decrease) to the Bank’s profit before income tax arising
from a 10% appreciation of the relevant foreign currency against the functional currency of the Bank.
A 10% depreciation will have the opposite impact to the Bank’s profit before income tax.

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018

usD 18,268.8 17,289.2

EUR 189.7 100.5

SGD 186.4 140.5
6 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The objectives of the Bank's capital management are to maintain an optimal level of capital, which
is adequate to support business growth, commensurate with the Bank’s risk profile and meet the
regulatory requirements. The management of capital funds is centralised in the Treasury department
and monitored daily by the Finance department.

The Bank have adopted the revised computation method in accordance to CBM Notification No.
16/2017 Capital Adequacy Regulation (CAR) issued on July 7, 2017, effective from the date of
issuance. The revised computation of the capital adequacy ratios are based on the Bank's core capital
and risk weighted assets. According to the new regulation, the Bank considers its core capital (Tier
1 capital) to include issued and paid up capital, statutory reserves and retained earnings.
Supplementary capital (Tier 2 capital) includes general loan loss reserves on credits . The Bank’s
risk weighted assets include loans and advances, all other assets and off-balance-sheet items. As at
September 30, 2018, the Bank reported a Tier 1 capital ratio of 4.67% and capital adequacy ratio
of 5.86% based on the revised computation method.

During the past period, the Bank submitted a capital improvement plan to the Central Bank of
Myanmar. This Capital Improvement Plan includes short-term and long-term plans of the Bank on
how to increase the Tier 1 Capital and the Supplementary Capital in order to meet the minimum
regulatory Capital Adequacy Ratio. As at the date of this report the Bank has submitted request for
approval of Revaluation of Fixed Assets based on the assessment report by an international valuator
approved by the Central Bank of Myanmar, as well as, another request for approval of injection of
Subordinated Debt. The Bank expects that the successful execution of the proposed Capital
Improvement Plan will result in the Bank meeting the minimum Capital Adequacy Ratio of 8%.

7 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Bank's shareholders are disclosed in Note 18. The Bank is controlled by U Zaw Zaw (“Controlling
Shareholder”). Shareholders with more than 10% shares in the Bank are considered to have
significant influence on the Bank (“Significant Shareholders”). The Bank’s related parties are
determined based on MAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Annual Report
2017 - 2018




AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

7.1 Compensation of Key Management Personnel
Key Management Personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly, including any director
(whether executive or otherwise) of the Bank.
The following table sets out the compensation for Key Management Personnel of the Bank in
exchange for services rendered to the Bank for the period they served during the period/ year:
. April 1, 2018 to
In Kyats millions September 30, 2018
Short term employee benefits 705.2
7.2 Transactions with Related Parties

April 1, 2017 to
March 31, 2018

1,236.6

All refated party transactions were made in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s length basis.
In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following table sets
out other significant transactions and balances with related parties:

In Kyats millions

Transactions with related parties during the
financial period/ year:
Income received/earned

Expenses paid/accrued

Other payments to related parties during the
financial period/year:
Payments for property, plant and equipment

Balances with related parties as at the end of
financial period/ year:

Loans & Advances

Deposits held

8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In Kyats millions

Cash

Account with Central Bank of Myanmar
Account with foreign banks

Account with private and other banks
Account with state-owned banks

Annual Report
2017 - 2018

April 1, 2018 to
September 30, 2018

April 1, 2017 to
March 31, 2018

& 2,248.8
603.6 760.5
6,043.7 18,099.2

September 30, 2018

2,643.7

March 31, 2018

4,152.9

September 30, 2018

March 31, 2018

369,464.5 394,301.4
326,131.4 202,694.8
45,001.4 74,811.4
14,729.5 94,433.9
6,225.4 8,464.8
761,552.2 774,706.3




AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

10

11

PLACEMENT WITH OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

In Kyats millions

Placement with foreign bank
Placement with domestic private bank
Reverse repurchase agreements

INVESTMENT SECURITIES

In Kyats millions

At amortised cost,
- Government treasury bonds
- Government treasury bills
- Central Bank deposit auctions

Unquoted equity shares at cost

LOANS AND ADVANCES, NET

In Kyats millions

Demand Loans

Overdrafts

Hire purchase

Staff loans

Short term loans to foreign banks
Credit card receivables from customers
Interest in suspense

Loans and advances, gross

Less: Specific allowance

Loans and advances, net

September 30, 2018

March 31, 2018

262,294.0 201,790.0
20,112.0 42,688.8

- 55,873.1
282,406.0 300,351.9

September 30, 2018

March 31, 2018

1,059,599.7 742,733.5
138,818.6 57,942.5
70,000.0 B
1,268,418.3 800,676.0
2,393.5 2,393.5
1,270,811.8 803,069.5

September 30, 2018

March 31, 2018

2,017,954.2 1,563,622.0
550,688.2 843,074.0
172,740.3 128,449.9
3,112.9 3,174.8
8,405.0 27,406.0
28,161.9 20,972.7
(30,265.3) (12,370.9)
2,750,797.2 2,574,328.5
(10,349.4) -

2,740,447.8

2,574,328.5
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Bank’s intangible assets amounting to 4,388.5 million Kyats consist of costs incurred to install

and acquire the Core Banking System. No amortization expense has yet to be recorded as the
software is not yet put into used during the six month period ended September 30, 2018,

14 OTHER ASSETS

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018
Interest receivable 62,392.4 48,770.9
Card receivables from credit card providers 42,031.2 3,786.1
Prepayments 32,000.5 37,355.5
Repossessed asset 19,500.0 19,500.0
Other receivables 8,237.6 5,497.9
Stock 3,179.6 2,742.3
Foreign remittance (inward) of foreign banks 925.0 487.2
National payment switch 421.2 403.9
Private accounts 44.4 =
Draft, cheques and debit notes receivable 5.8 276.7

168,737.7 118,820.5

15 DEPOSITS FROM BANKS

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018
Current deposits of state banks 8,317.8 6,422.4
Current deposit (internal remittance) of private banks 6,277.7 10,142.1
Current deposits of foreign banks 4,188.5 6,303.6
Current deposits of private banks 3,975.6 4,883.7
Fixed deposits of private banks 665.5 3,455.0
Other deposits of foreign banks 126.8 153.0
Saving deposits of private banks 327 1,743.2

23,584.6 33,103.0

16 DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018
Saving deposits of customers 3,007,982.7 2,323,256.9
Fixed deposits of customers 1,238,830.2 1,194,420.7
Call deposit of customers 677,444.5 873,762.3
Current deposits of customers 338,850.9 271,561.1

5,263,108.3 4,663,001.0
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

17 OTHER LIABILITIES
In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018
Card payables 53,752.9 11,201.9
Accrued interest payable 45,102.6 37,836.3
Sundry deposits 29,629.0 29,435.0
Payment order account 11,057.7 18,032.2
Income tax payable 8,304.7 4,908.5
Unearned income 1,504.8 2,226.5
Wages and salary payable 436.4 3,325.6
Debit notes payable 124.4 23.5
Unclaimed liabilities 70.4 34.8
Sundry creditors 8.6 267.2
149,991.5 107,291.6
Balance of 3,464.8 million Kyats (March 31, 2018: 1,472.7 million Kyats) pertaining to margin
deposits pertaining to bank guarantees and import letters of credit are included in the Sundry
Deposits balance.
18 SHARE CAPITAL
Number of Share_ Capital
Ordinary Shares (in Kyats
millions)
Issued and paid up:
As at April 1, 2017 1,000,000.0 100,000.0
Issued in the year 200,000.0 20,000.0
As at March 31,2018 1,200,000.0 120,000.0
Issued in the period 50,000.0 5,000.0
As at September 30, 2018 1,250,000.0 125,000.0

Fully paid ordinary shares have a par value of 100,000 Kyats, carry one vote per share and a right
to dividends as and when declared by the Bank. The Bank has an authorized share capital of 125,000
million Kyats (March 31, 2018: 120,000 million Kyats) comprising of 1,250,000 ordinary shares.
(March 31, 2018: 1,200,000 ordinary shares).

During the period / year, the Bank capitalized 5,000 million Kyats (March 31, 2018: 20,000 million

94

Kyats) with cash as ordinary shares.
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

18. SHARE CAPITAL (CONT'D)

The following table sets out the shareholders of the Bank as at the end of the reporting period:

September 30, 2018

March 31, 2018

Number of Nur:fber
S/N Shareholder o;:;?:;y Percentage Ordinary Percentage
held Shares
held

1 U Zaw Zaw 851,000 68.1% 801,000 66.8%
2 Daw Htay Htay Khiang 170,000 13.6% 170,000 14.2%
3 U Than Zaw 34,000 2.7% 34,000 2.8%
4 U Soe Tint 63,000 5.0% 63,000 5.3%
5 U Ohn Kyaw @ U Aye Thwin 63,000 5.0% 63,000 5.3%
6 Daw San San 34,000 2.7% 34,000 2.8%
7 U Than Oo 35,000 2.8% 35,000 2.9%

1,250,000 100.0% 1,200,000 100.0%_

19 RESERVES

In Kyats millions :Zas‘:::zarsyl R?ag:f\;:;z Total
As at April 1, 2017 11,754.7 9,448.0 21,202.7
Addition 5,054.8 15,164.5 20,219.3
As at March 31, 2018 16,809.5 24,612.5 41,422.0
Addition 7,724.7 16,482.7 24,207.4
As at September 30, 2018 _24,534.2 41,095.2 65,629.4
' Section 35(a) of the Financial Institutions Law of Myanmar 2016 requires, the Bank to provide

25% of Net Profit after Tax in a Statutory Reserve account until the account reaches 100%

of paid-up capital of the Bank.

2 The Central Bank of Myanmar ("CBM") Notification No. 17/2017 requires the Bank to set
aside 2% (March 31, 2018: 2%) of the total balance of Loans and advances as General

Reserves.
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

20

21

DIVIDENDS

In respect of the current period, there were no dividends declared by the directors. (March 31,

2018: Nil).

NET INTEREST INCOME

Interest income comprises interest arising from various types of lending and investment activities.
Interest expense comprises all interest incurred on deposits and borrowings from bank and non-

bank customers.
Interest income and expense include the following:

April 1, 2018 to

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018

Interest income arising from:

April 1, 2017 to
March 31, 2018

Loans and advances 147,728.2 295,676.4
Investment securities 47,014.9 62,399.0
Deposits with banks ) 7,166.9 15,469.7
Trade finance 591.2 517.8
202,501.2 374,062.9
Interest expense arising from:
Deposits from bank and non-bank customers (167,350.1) (313,369.4)
Borrowings from banks (132.1) (321.7)

(167,482.2)

(313,691.1)

Net interest income 35,019.0

60,371.8
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Period ended September 30, 2018

22

23

24

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME, NET

Fees, commission and service charges income are generated from the range of activities that the
Bank provides. Balow is the breakdown on fees and commission income and expense.

In Kyats millions

Fee and commission income:
Service charges

Exchange fees

Commission fees

Commitment fees

Default fees

SWIFT/Telex charges

Fee and commission expense:
Bank charges

Net fee and commission income

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)

In Kyats millions

Foreign exchange gains (loss)
Foreign exchange transaction gains
Others

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE

In Kyats millions

Wages and salaries

Other personnel costs
Supplies and services
Maintenance and repair
Professional fees

Rates and taxes

Advertising and branding
Travel and entertainment
Social security contributions
Insurance

April 1, 2018 to
September 30, 2018

April 1, 2017 to
March 31, 2018

11,197.1 23,480.5
6,581.9 5,352.8
3,662.4 6,438.6
2,348.7 5,732.3
1,117.8 1,776.7

121.3 887.0

25,029.2 43,667.9

(1,320.7) (3,944.4)

23,708.5 39,723.5

April 1, 2018 to
September 30, 2018

April 1, 2017 to
March 31, 2018

28,041.7 (2,799.1)
3,236.2 319.6
249.8 1,446.9
31,527.7 (1,032.6)

April 1, 2018 to
September 30, 2018

April 1, 2017 to
March 31, 2018

13,146.0 27,976.0
2,958.0 7,503.8
2,859.2 4,996.2
2,263.6 4,568.7
2,076.9 3,881.2
1,186.1 2,368.4
1,045.2 3,235.7

369.9 928.1
296.9 569.0
168.8 298.5
26,370.6 56,325.6
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AYEYARWADY BANK LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Period ended September 30, 2018

25

26

27
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OTHER OPERATING EXPENSE

April 1, 2018 to April 1, 2017 to

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018  March 31, 2018

Miscellaneous expenses 780.0 1,837.0
Others 27.7 16.3
807.7 1,853.3

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Bank estimates income tax expense on profit to approximate Myanmar'’s corporate tax rate of
25% (March 31, 2018: 25%) of profit before tax, net of tax adjustments.

April 1, 2018 to .09 2017 to

In Kyats millions September 30, March 31, 2018
2018

Profit before tax 40,544.7 18,729.2
Income tax expense calculated at 25%

(March 31, 2018: 25%) 10,136.2 4,682.3
Effect of expenses that are not deductible in

determining taxable profit - 226.2
Others 230.8 822.5
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 10,367.0 5,731.0

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The following sets out the Bank’s contingent liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based
on the maximum amount the Bank would have to pay if the obligations of the instruments issued
are called upon:

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018 March 31, 2018

Bank guarantees 85,413.1 79,353.6

Import letters of credit 166,629.8 212,283.1
252,042.9 291,636.7
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28.1

28.2

COMMITMENTS

Outstanding commitments

At the end of the reporting period, the Bank has the following commitments:

In Kyats millions September 30, 2018

a) Lease commitments:

March 31, 2018

- within one year 6,457.5 5,946.0

- in the second to fifth year 23,787.0 21,165.1

- from the fifth year onwards 14,470.0 18,320.6

b) Undrawn loan commitments 137,704.0 163,456.2
182,418.5 208,887.9

Minimum lease payments

April 1, 2018 to
In Kyats millions September 30,
2018

Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases
recognised as an expense during the period /year 3,827.8

April 1, 2017 to
March 31, 2018

7,403.3

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Bank for its leases of land and buildings

for its head office and branches.
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29 CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

In Kyats millions Current Non-current Total

As at September 30, 2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 761,552.2 - 761,552.2

Placement with other financial

institutions 282,406.0 - 282,406.0

Investment securities 413,597.8 857,214.0 1,270,811.8

Loan and advances 1,640,167.5 1,100,280.3 2,740,447.8

Property, plant and equipment - 357,301.5 357,301.5

Intangibles - 4,388.5 4,388.5

Bills receivable 47,990.8 - 47,990.8

Other assets 168,737.7 - 168,737.7
3,314,452.0 2,319,184.3 5,633,636.3

Liabilities

Deposits from banks 23,584.6 - 23,584.6

Deposits from customers 5,263,108.3 - 5,263,108.3

Other liabilities 149,991.5 = 149,991.5
5,436,684.4 - 5,436,684 .4

In Kyats millions Current Non-current Total

As at March 31, 2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 774,706.3 “ 774,706.3

Placement with other financial

institutions 300,351.9 - 300,351.9

Investment securities 206,456.0 596,613.5 803,069.5

Loan and advances 1,980,143.1 594,185.4 2,574,328.5

Property, plant and equipment - 353,734.5 353,734.5

Bills receivable 40,158.6 = 40,158.6

Other assets 118,820.5 - 118,820.5
3,420,636.4 1,544,533.4 4,965,169.8

Liabilities

Deposits from banks 33,103.0 e 33,103.0

Deposits from customers 4,663,001.0 = 4,663,001.0

Other liabilities 107,291.6 = 107,291.6
4,803,395.6 - 4,803,395.6
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30 COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Pursuant to the CBM Notification Letter No. 224/kaka(1)/535/2017-2018 dated March 30, 2018,
all financial institutions are required to close their accounts for the transition period from
April 1, 2018 to September 30, 2018. Accordingly, the Bank also changed its financial reporting
period end from March 31 to September 30 and the Statements of Profit or Loss and other
Comprehensive Income, Statements of Changes in Equity and Statements of Cash Flows for the
six-month period ended September 30, 2018 and twelve-month period ended March 31, 2018 are
presented as comparative figures of the current period financial statements. Therefore, the
amounts presented in the financial statements are not entirely comparable.

31 SUBSEQUENT EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

31.1 Subsequent to the end of the reporting period on March 13, 2019, the Central Bank of
Myanmar ("CBM") instructed the Bank to make a provision of 10,981 million Kyats in relation
to certain loans extended by the Bank due to protracted delays in the commencement of the
borrower’s operations and the absence of sufficient collaterals.

The Bank has assessed and concluded that this does not relate to a condition that existed at
the end of the reporting period as the loans are not past due based on the terms of the loans
and are not non-performing loans. Consequently, this is a non-adjusting event and to be
recorded in the subsequent financial period. Notwithstanding that the Bank is confident of
the recovery of the principal and interest of these loans and is working with the borrower and
other stakeholders to obtain the necessary collaterals and other legal documentation, the
instructed provision was made on April 30, 2019.

31.2 As on the date of the issuance of this report, the Paid in Capital of the bank had increased
to 130,000 million Kyats after the injection of 5,000 million Kyats by the shareholders on
June 10, 2019 with the approval from the Central Bank of Myanmar.
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